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Events 2014
First quarter
•
•
•

McKesson new majority shareholder
Profit matches last year's figure
EPN 2014 roll-out started

Second quarter
•
•
•

Domination and profit and loss transfer agreement approved and put to the
vote at the Annual General Meeting
New Chairman of the Management Board and Chief Financial Officer appointed
Unscheduled impairment losses in Brazil to the amount of EUR 80m

Third quarter
•
•
•

Revenue and earnings above prior year
Ongoing competition and challenging market environment anticipated
Member of the Management Board for Legal and Compliance appointed

Fourth quarter

About Celesio Group
Celesio is a leading international wholesale and retail company and provider of
logistics and services to the pharmaceutical and healthcare sectors. The proactive and
preventive approach ensures that patients receive the products and support that they
require for optimum care.
We operate in 14 countries around the world with some 39,000 employees. Every
day, we look after over 2 million customers at just under 2,200 pharmacies of our own
and around 4,300 participants in brand partnership schemes. With 133 wholesale
branches, we supply some 65,000 pharmacies and hospitals every day with up to
130,000 pharmaceutical products. The services benefit a patient pool of about 15
million per day.
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Celesio at a glance
1st to 3rd
quarter
2013

KE Y FIG URE S OF THE CE LE S IO G ROUP

Continuing operations
Revenue
Gross profit
adjusted 1)
EBITDA
adjusted 1)
EBIT
adjusted 1)
Profit before tax
adjusted 1)
Net profit/loss
adjusted 1)
Earnings per share (basic)
Earnings per share (basic),
adjusted 1)
Cash inflow/outflow from operating
activities
Net cash flow from investing activities
Free cash flow
Employees (full-time equivalent) 3)
Retail pharmacies 3)
Wholesale branches 3)
Discontinued operations
Net profit/loss
Earnings per share (basic)
Employees (full-time equivalent) 3)
Continuing and discontinued operations
Total assets
Equity
Equity ratio
Net Financial Debt
Net Financial Debt/EBITDA adj.1) 4)
Employees (full-time equivalent) 3)
Employees 3)
Net profit/loss
Earnings per share (basic)
1)
2)
3)
4)

1st to 3rd Change on EUR Change in local
quarter
basis %
currency %
2014

EUR m
EUR m
EUR m
EUR m
EUR m
EUR m
EUR m
EUR m
EUR m
EUR m
EUR m
EUR

15,991.1
1,746.2
1,745.9
399.3
406.9
303.3
312.0
197.6
206.4
126.2
132.1
0.71

16,460.0
1,766.8
1,768.6
369.5
410.2
173.7
318.7
118.6
263.6
37.6
174.0
0.18

2.9
1.2
1.3
– 7.5
0.8
– 42.7
2.1
– 40.0
27.7
– 70.2
31.7
– 75.2

3.2
0.9
1.0
– 9.2
– 0.9
– 48.2
– 0.1
/
/
/
/
/

EUR

0.75

0.87

16.1

/

EUR m
EUR m
EUR m

117.0
– 16.5
33.3
28,668
2,176
131

– 78.3
– 106.7
– 271.5
28,651
2,184
133

>– 100
/
/
/
/

/
/
/
/
/
/

EUR m
EUR

– 5.4
– 0.03
/

– 0.9
0.00
/

83.4
85.9
/

EUR m
EUR m
%
EUR m

7,598.3 ²
2,192.0 ²
28.8 ²
1,363.4 ²
2.49 ²
28,668
38,886
120.8
0.68

7,688.4 ³
2,797.7 ³
36.4 ³
1,082.1 ³
1.96 ³
28,651
38,593
36.7
0.18

1.2
27.6
/
– 20.6
/
/
/
/
/

/
/
/
/
/
/
/
/
/
/
/
/
/

EUR m
EUR

Adjusted for special effects from defined non-recurring expenses and income (including tax effect).
Closing figures as at 31 December 2013.
Closing figures at the end of the reporting period.
Based on EBITDA of the last twelve months.
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Letter from the Chairman of the Management Board

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,
LADIES AND GENTLEMEN,

The results of our operational performance in the first nine months of 2014 are in
line with our expectations. Revenue was up compared to the prior-year period and
even further increased broadly once the figures are adjusted for currency and
consolidation effects. However, earnings were impacted in particular by nonrecurring effects due to the impairment in Brazil and costs in conjunction with the
takeover by the McKesson Corporation. In the fourth quarter, we expect ongoing
headwinds resulting from persistent unfavourable circumstances in Germany,
France and Brazil.
Future development will hinge on how quickly the international platform can
be set up, after the registration of the domination and profit and loss transfer
agreement. An integration team has therefore been tasked with identifying areas
of potential, preparing solutions and then effecting a gradual integration into
McKesson's organisational structure.
During the last quarter, we established a Leadership Team, which will
strengthen the position of Celesio as a leading international wholesale and retail
company in the pharmaceutical and healthcare sectors. The individuals who joined
the team bring a wealth of experience, energy and passion to their new roles. I feel
very confident that with this team in place we will be able to continue to chart the
right course for the company, to strive to always better serve our patients,
pharmacies and manufacturing partners and to develop our leadership talent and
make Celesio an even better place to work.
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In addition to the set-up of the Leadership Team the Supervisory Board
decided two changes to the Management Board: Stephan Borchert, Member of
the Management Board and Chief Marketing & Sales Officer of Celesio AG, left the
company as of 22 September 2014. The decision was made in mutual agreement
with the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board appointed Tilo Köster as
Member of the Management Board of Celesio AG effective 23 September 2014. He
is responsible for Legal, Compliance and External Affairs. His appointment reflects
the increasing importance of the role that compliance, regulation and relations
with regulators play in our sector and where there is increasingly a global
dimension to consider.
We would like to thank our shareholders, customers and business partners and
above all our employees for the trusting relationship that we enjoy and that we
look forward to continuing.
STUTTGART, OCTOBER 2014

MARC OWEN
CHAIRMAN OF THE MANAGEMENT BOARD
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Stock market environment & Celesio share

Celesio share price performance and takeover offer
The performance of the Celesio share was heavily influenced by the takeover
by McKesson in the first nine months 2014. The share price was largely able to
decouple from developments on the MDAX and DAX. Influenced by the takeover
situation and much speculation among market participants, the share price
performed correspondingly positively. Celesio shares ended the first nine months
of 2014 at a price of EUR 26.34 on 30 September 2014.
As of 30 September 2014, the market capitalisation was EUR 5.35bn (prior year
EUR 2.83bn). In the reporting period, the average number of Celesio shares traded
on Xetra stood at 310,441 per day, which is 31% down on the prior-year period of
448,763 shares per day.
For additional information on the history of the takeover offer, we refer to the
information provided within the half-year report 2014 and the annual report for
the fiscal year 2013.
CELESIO SHARE PRICE PERFORMANCE, DAX, MDAX
XETRA CLOSING PRICES 02/01/2014 – 30/09/2014 (ONLY TRADING DAYS),
INDEXED TO PRICE OF CELESIO AG
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Shareholder structure
On 6 February 2014, the McKesson Corporation, San Francisco, USA announced
the completion of the acquisition of more than 75% of Celesio shares. McKesson is
therefore the majority shareholder in Celesio. As of 30 September 2014, the
McKesson Corporation, San Francisco, USA, and the companies attributable to it
held 154,277,886 Celesio shares. This equates to a stake of 75.92% of the share
capital issued and of the voting rights in Celesio.
On 3 April 2014, Magnetar Financial LLC, Evanston, Illinois, USA, notified us that
the share of the voting rights held by it and companies attributable to it amounted
to 3.14% (which equates to 6,387,521 voting rights) on 27 March 2014.
On 30 September 2014, the free float of Celesio stood at 20.94% of the shares.
Investor Relations
The aim of the work undertaken by Celesio AG to maintain good investor relations
is to communicate promptly and comprehensively with the financial community, to
maintain continuity and to achieve the greatest possible transparency. These aims
are implemented through continuous dialogue with analysts as well as existing and
potential investors. These principles represent our paramount premises in our
daily work and in contact with the capital market.
On the topic of Investor Relations, we provide additional information on our
company and our share online at celesio.com, in the section entitled Investor
Relations. In addition to current news and dates, you can also find presentations
and speeches as well as our annual reports and quarterly financial reports.
Anybody wishing to keep up-to-date with developments at all times can also
register for our e-mail service and will then receive corporate notifications and
information by e-mail.
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IN FORM ATION ON THE S HARE

Type of share
Share capital in EUR 1)
ISIN
WKN
German stock exchange code
Indices (selection)

No-par value registered shares
260,122,793
DE000CLS1001
CLS 100
CLS1
MDAX, MSCI Germany Index,
FTSE4Good, ECPI Ethical Index EMU

KE Y S HARE FIG URE S

Number of shares outstanding 1)
Market capitalisation 1)
Closing price 1) 2)
High 2)
Low 2)
Average Xetra trading volume per day

million
EUR m
EUR
EUR
EUR
shares

1st to 3rd
quarter
2013

1st to 3rd
quarter
2014

170.1
2,830.5
16.64
17.89
13.05
448,763

203.2
5,352.8
26.34
26.58
22.43
310,441

1) Closing figures as at 30 September.
2) Xetra closing prices, source: Bloomberg.
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Celesio AG
Q1–Q3 2014

Economic report

Two sides to the economic development in the first nine months of 2014
Whereas the economic upturn has been progressing in the United States and
United Kingdom, the Eurozone struggled with an economic downturn during the
first nine months of 2014. The geopolitical crisis in Ukraine also put pressure on
the situation. A lack of demand in exports reflects the moderate growth of the
worldwide economy. Even though the monetary policy remains expansionary
within the Eurozone, this did not pay off in economic growth. Following the weak
economic growth, the ECB cut its main refinancing operations rate to 0.05% in
September 2014. The interest rate for the deposit facility for banks was reduced to
-0.2% at the same time.
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Revenue and operating results
Course of business
The course of business in the first nine months of 2014 was still characterised
by intense competition in Germany. Furthermore, as part of the preparation of the
interim financial statements as at 30 June 2014, goodwill impairment tests were
conducted due to adjusted long-term revenue prospects for our Brazilian activities.
As part of this process, a non-cash impairment loss on goodwill of EUR 77.4m was
identified for the Brazilian wholesale activities as well as now EUR 6.6m for other
intangible assets. This goodwill was primarily due to the acquisitions of Panpharma
in 2009 and Oncoprod in 2011.
Group revenue was up on the prior year with market growth in Germany and
positive revenue performance in Brazil. The strong business development in
Norway and the United Kingdom offset the decline in revenue in France and
Belgium. Group revenue increased by 3.7% after adjustments for currency effects
and changes in the consolidated group.
Adjusted EBIT increased above the prior year's figure, mainly due to the very
good performance in the United Kingdom. The discount competition in Germany,
the weak market in France and a less favourable than anticipated trend in Brazil
decelerated the development. In Germany, where the competition has been
cooling down slowly since the peak in discounts in February this year, the discount
level is still higher than prior-year figures.
More detailed information on the course of business of the individual
segments can be found in the comments on the divisional revenue and operating
results figures  from page 21 and  from page 24.
In the income statement, we show defined non-recurring expenses and
income as a non-recurring effect in earnings before the investment result, taxes
and interest (EBIT). These non-recurring effects amounting to EUR 145.0m
weighed on earnings in the first nine months of 2014. These were mainly due to
the impairment in Brazil (EUR 84.0m), which was classified as a non-recurring
effect, and to the impairment of individual intangible assets from out of use IT
infrastructure in the United Kingdom (EUR 20.2m). Additional non-recurring effects
occurred due to provisions for restructuring expenses in Norway (EUR 5.7m) as
well as to contractual claims from retired members of the Management Board and
other related obligations and to legal and other consultancy expenses in
connection with the takeover by the McKesson Corporation (EUR 34.5m).
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Revenue
Despite the deconsolidation of the Irish wholesale business in May 2013 and
negative currency effects overall, group revenue in the first nine months of 2014
was up 2.9% to EUR 16,460.0m from EUR 15,991.1m. Market growth in Germany
as well as in Brazil and the good revenue performance in the United Kingdom and
Norway outweighed the decline in France and Belgium. Market share gains in
France could not fully compensate the continuing decline of the French market.
After adjustments for negative currency effects overall, due to the Brazilian real,
revenue increased by 3.2%. Following further adjustments for changes in the
consolidated group, revenue increased by 3.7%.

G ROUP RE VE N UE BY COUN TRY

United Kingdom
France
Germany
Brazil
Norway
Austria
Others
Group
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1st to 3rd
quarter
2013
EUR m

3,344.1
4,671.3
3,121.6
1,347.0
884.4
814.7
1,808.0
15,991.1

1st to 3rd
Change on EUR Change in local
quarter
basis %
currency %
2014
EUR m

3,670.4
4,632.9
3,350.9
1,263.8
920.2
849.4
1,772.4
16,460.0

9.8
– 0.8
7.3
– 6.2
4.0
4.3
– 2.0
2.9

4.5
– 0.8
7.3
4.6
12.5
4.3
– 1.7
3.2
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Gross profit
Gross profit in the first nine months of 2014 rose less than revenue by 1.2% from
EUR 1,746.2m to EUR 1,766.8m. At 10.7%, the gross profit margin in the reporting
period was below the prior year's figure of 10.9%.
Continuing negative effects in Germany as well as increasing sales figures in the
high-end segment of prescription drugs in France and Germany burdened gross
profit. Additionally, reduced tax incentives in Brazil and state-imposed price
reductions in the British pharmacy business in particular negatively impacted the
gross profit development in the course of the year. Those effects were partially
compensated by increasing margins in the British wholesale business and positive
contributions from our central purchasing activities. After adjustments for
currency effects, the gross profit increased by 0.9%. You can find more detailed
information on gross profit trend in the first nine months of 2014 in the comments
on the divisions from  page 21 and from  page 24.
Other operating income
In the first nine months of 2014, other operating income fell by 1.2% to EUR 149.8m
(prior year 151.6m). After adjustments for non-recurring effects, other operating
income fell by 0.9%. Adversely currency effects and the deconsolidation of the Irish
wholesale business in May 2013 contributed negatively to the development.
Furthermore, in the prior year we recorded additional income from the appreciation
in the values of Brazilian sales tax receivables as well as the one-off insurance
settlement in connection with the warehouse fire in Belgium. These negative effects
were offset by a one-off positive impact resulting from the takeover of the
remaining Oncoprod shares. In the course of the transaction, the contractually
agreed earn-out component was settled with Oncoprod shares. In addition, Celesio
was reimbursed for defined risk from periods prior to the initial acquisition. Those
claims were also settled by the former owners with shares. After adjustments for
currency effects, adjusted other operating income fell by 0.2%.
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Revenue and operating results
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Other operating expenses
At EUR 587.2m, other operating expenses were up by 2.4% on the prior year's
figure of EUR 573.5m. In the first nine months of 2014 there were adjustments of
EUR 10.8m, for legal and other consultancy expenses, concerning in particular the
takeover by the McKesson Corporation, as well as for restructuring costs in
Norway. After adjustments for non-recurring effects, they increased slightly by
0.5% in the first nine months of 2014. Apart from expenses resulting from the
accelerated expansion of our European Pharmacy Network in the United Kingdom,
higher transportation costs as well as higher inflation and sales costs in Brazil
contributed to this increase. Additionally, higher allowances for debts in Portugal
contributed to this negative development. Cost savings in other business units
could only partially compensate the overall rise in other operating expenses.
Following additional adjustments for currency effects, a rise in other operating
expenses of 1.0% was reported.
Personnel expenses
At EUR 959.9m, personnel expenses rose by 3.8% compared with the prior year's
figure of EUR 925.0m. After adjustments for non-recurring effects arising from
integration costs as well as for termination benefits from the reorganisation of the
management structure, personnel expenses only rose by 1.7% in comparison with
the prior year's figure. Salary inflation in Brazil and in Norway as well as the filling
of vacancies in the United Kingdom and in the holding company were only partially
compensated by savings in several entities, especially in France. Following
additional adjustments for currency effects, personnel expenses increased by
1.6%.
EBITDA
Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) fell by 7.5%
in comparison with the prior-year period, from EUR 399.3m to EUR 369.5m. After
adjustments for non-recurring effects, EBITDA increased by 0.8% to EUR 410.2m
compared with EUR 406.9m in the first nine months of 2013. Following additional
adjustments for currency effects, adjusted EBITDA shrank by 0.9%.
Depreciation and amortisation
Scheduled depreciation and amortisation fell by 3.5% from EUR 94.9m to EUR
91.5m in the reporting period. The full scheduled depreciation of some intangible
assets towards the end of the prior year was largely responsible for this drop.
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Unscheduled depreciation and amortisation
As part of the preparation of the interim financial statements as at 30 June 2014,
impairment tests were conducted due to an adjusted long-term earnings outlook.
As part of this process, a non-cash impairment loss on goodwill and other
intangible assets of EUR 84.0m was identified for the Brazilian wholesale activities.
This goodwill was primarily due to acquisitions in 2009 and 2011. Progress has
certainly been made to date with the initiated realignment of the Brazilian
business units, but not at the desired rate or to the extent planned. Other reasons
included lower than expected contributions from the initiated measures, the
increasing the direct supply deliveries from manufacturers to pharmacies.
Accordingly, there was an extraordinary impairment loss as part of the
unscheduled impairment test on goodwill.
Additionally, other individual impairment losses occurred on intangible assets from
out-of-use IT infrastructure resulting from the global IT strategy in the United
Kingdom. Impairment losses and unscheduled depreciation and amortisation on
intangible assets and property, plant and equipment amounted to EUR 104.2m
overall. In the prior year unscheduled depreciation and amortisation amounted to
EUR 1.1m.
EBIT
Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) recorded a decline of 42.7% from
EUR 303.3m to EUR 173.7m, due in particular to the extraordinary impairment loss
on the goodwill of the Brazilian activities. After adjustments for non-recurring
effects, EBIT was EUR 318.7m and consequently 2.1% above the prior year's figure
of EUR 312.0m. In particular the very good performance in the United Kingdom
and Norway as well as supportive developments in other countries more than
compensated the challenging circumstances created by the discount competition
in Germany, the declining market in France and the unfavourable trend in Brazil.
Following further adjustment for currency effects, adjusted EBIT fell by 0.1%.

Investment result
At EUR 12.2m, the investment result was improved compared to the prior year's
figure of EUR 8.5m. The pleasing performance by the Dutch investment Brocacef
Holding N.V. in the reporting period, which was supported by market conditions,
was primarily responsible for this.
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Financial result
The financial result, i.e. the balance of interest expenses, interest income and other
financial results, improved significantly to EUR – 67.3m compared with EUR – 114.3m
in the prior-year period. This was primarily due to the drop in interest expenses
resulting from the repayment and conversion of convertible bonds into shares in the
first months of 2014. Additionally, a favourable interest rate as well as a currency
revaluation effect, mainly within the prior year, sustained the performance. The
corresponding adjusted interest cover ratio came to 4.7 (prior year 2.7).
Profit before tax
In the first nine months of the year, profit before tax decreased by 40.0% from EUR
197.6m to EUR 118.6m. After adjustments for non-recurring effects, profit before
tax increased by 27.7% from EUR 206.4m to EUR 263.6m, mainly due to the
favourable financial result.
Tax expenditure
At EUR 81.0m (prior-year period EUR 71.4m) tax expenditure in the first nine
months of 2014 increased by 13.4%. This resulted in a notional tax ratio of 68.3%
for the reporting period, compared with 36.1% in the prior-year period. After
adjustments for non-recurring effects, the tax ratio amounted to 34.0% compared
with 36.0% in the 2013 reporting period. This improvement is primarily
attributable to fiscal optimisation measures and the changes in the composition of
the earnings contributions of the individual country units. These were, however,
burdened by the performance in Brazilian and German wholesale operations.
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Profit from continuing operations
In the reporting period, the profit from the Celesio Group's continuing operations
amounted to EUR 37.6m compared with EUR 126.2m in the prior-year period.
After adjustments for non-recurring effects, the profit from continuing operations,
at EUR 174.0m, was up 31.7% on the prior year's figure of EUR 132.1m. The
undiluted earnings per share of the Celesio Group came to EUR 0.18 compared
with EUR 0.71 in the prior-year period.
Profit from discontinued operations
The profit from discontinued operations came to EUR – 0.9m compared with EUR
– 5.4m in the first nine months of 2013 and consequently amounted to (undiluted
and diluted) EUR 0.00 per share compared to EUR – 0.03 in the prior-year period.
The result is largely due to additional provisions for the expected occurrence of
risks in relation to the activities disposed of in prior-years.
Net profit/loss
The net profit/loss as the profit from continuing and discontinued operations came
to EUR 36.7m in the first nine months of 2014 compared with EUR 120.8m in the
first nine months of 2013. Accordingly, undiluted earnings per share came to EUR
0.18 compared with EUR 0.68 in the prior-year period.
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CE L E SIO G ROUP RE VE N UE AN D
OPE RATIN G RE S UL TS

Revenue
Gross profit
adjusted 1)
EBITDA
adjusted 1)
EBIT
adjusted 1)
Profit before tax
adjusted 1)
Net profit from continuing
operations
adjusted 1)
Net profit from
discontinued operations
Net profit/loss from
continuing and
discontinued operations
1)

1st to 3rd quarter
2013
EUR m
of revenue %

1st to 3rd quarter
Change on EUR Change in local
2014
basis
currency
EUR m
of revenue %
%
%

15,991.1
1,746.2
1,745.9
399.3
406.9
303.3
312.0
197.6
206.4

100.0
10.9
10.9
2.5
2.5
1.9
2.0
1.2
1.3

16,460.0
1,766.8
1,768.6
369.5
410.2
173.7
318.7
118.6
263.6

100.0
10.7
10.7
2.2
2.5
1.1
1.9
0.7
1.6

2.9
1.2
1.3
– 7.5
0.8
– 42.7
2.1
– 40.0
27.7

3.2
0.9
1.0
– 9.2
– 0.9
– 48.2
– 0.1
/
/

126.2
132.1

0.8
0.8

37.6
174.0

0.2
1.1

– 70.2
31.7

/
/

– 5.4

0.0

– 0.9

0.0

83.4

/

120.8

0.8

36.7

0.2

– 69.6

/

Adjusted for special effects from defined non-recurring expenses and income (including tax effect).
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Consumer Solutions division

Market environment and business development
Celesio is one of the largest pharmacy operators in Europe and, as of 30
September 2014, has 2,184 of its own retail pharmacies (prior year 2,176) in six
countries.
Our paramount aim is to supply our customers with the best possible
pharmaceutical products and provide them with the best possible advice. In
choosing the location of our pharmacies, we take account of proximity to our
customers, medical practices or healthcare centres in particular.
Austerity measures, in particular in the United Kingdom and Ireland, and the
accompanying savings had a negative effect on the market in the reporting period.
The substitution of cheaper generic drugs for original products also continued.
Nevertheless, in the United Kingdom in particular, growth in revenue was achieved
by higher sales volumes and an increase in service agreements.
Despite the tough economic environment and continuing cutbacks in many
countries, the Consumer Solutions division performed well in the first nine months
of 2014. After adjustments for currency effects a considerable increase in revenue
was achieved, which was also reflected in a pleasing increase in adjusted results.

Revenue and operating results
Revenue
In the first nine months of 2014, revenue in the Consumer Solutions division
increased by 7.6% from EUR 2,514.8m to EUR 2,706.0m. Service agreements with
hospitals and the growing homecare business (Evolution Homecare) had a
particularly positive effect on revenue in the United Kingdom. Additionally, the
performance was driven by positive currency exchange rate effects, in particular by
the British pound, as well as positive portfolio effects in Norway, Sweden and
Ireland. The positive performance of non-prescription products in Norway also
contributed to this increase. After adjustments for currency effects, revenue
increased by 5.7%. Following additional adjustments for the effects resulting from
the changes in the consolidated group, revenue rose by 4.7%.
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Gross profit
The division's gross profit improved in the first nine months by 5.4% from EUR
864.3m to EUR 911.0m. After adjustments for marginal non-recurring effects, gross
profit also climbed by 5.4%. At 33.7%, the gross profit margin in the reporting
period was below the prior year's figure of 34.4%.
The governmental measures in the United Kingdom since October 2013 and
additional measures in Ireland in 2014 continue to weigh on the gross profit
margin. Moreover, higher sales and service volumes with lower margin products
put pressure on the overall gross profit margin, particularly in the United Kingdom.
This could be partially offset in large part by our central purchasing activities in
many countries. Following additional adjustments for currency effects, gross profit
increased by 3.9% compared with the prior-year period.
EBITDA
The division's EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortisation) increased sharply by 12.4% in comparison with the prior-year
period, from EUR 188.8m to EUR 212.1m. After adjustments for special effects,
EBITDA increased by 12.1%. Following additional adjustments for currency effects,
EBITDA rose by 10.3%.
EBIT
Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) came to EUR 149.6m, compared with the
prior year's figure of EUR 142.0m. This equates to an increase of 5.3%. After
adjustments for non-recurring effects, EBIT increased even further by 15.9%. A
major factor in achieving this increase was the ongoing positive trend in earnings
in the United Kingdom. When additionally adjusted for currency effects, EBIT rose
by 13.9%.
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CON S UM ER S OL UTION S
RE VE N UE AN D OPE RATING
RE S UL TS

1st to 3rd quarter 2013
EUR m OF REVENUE %

Revenue
Gross profit
adjusted 1)
EBITDA
adjusted 1)
EBIT
adjusted 1)
1)

2,514.8
864.3
864.0
188.8
190.2
142.0
144.5

100.0
34.4
34.4
7.5
7.6
5.6
5.7

1st to 3rd quarter 2014

Change on EUR Change in local
basis %
currency %

EUR m OF REVENUE %

2,706.0
911.0
911.0
212.1
213.2
149.6
167.4

100.0
33.7
33.7
7.8
7.9
5.5
6.2

7.6
5.4
5.4
12.4
12.1
5.3
15.9

5.7
3.9
3.9
10.5
10.3
3.3
13.9

Adjusted for special effects from defined non-recurring expenses and income.

Performance in the individual countries
For Celesio, the United Kingdom is still the most important market in the
Consumer Solutions division. Operationally, Lloydspharmacy performed very well
in the first nine months of 2014, as expected. The increase in services, particularly
in contracts with hospitals and the growing homecare business more than
compensated for the negative effects of government measures. Central purchasing
activities also improved earning power.
For Celesio, Norway is the second most important pharmacy market. The
significant increase in revenue in local currency was achieved primarily by the nonprescription and service business. The acquisition and the opening of new
pharmacies also made a positive contribution. Overall, the contribution to
earnings derived from the growth in revenue more than compensated for
increased personnel expenses as well as transportation costs.
The course of business in Italy increasingly benefited from revenue and
earnings from non-prescription products thanks to the European Pharmacy
Network. This completely offset the decline in revenue from prescription drugs
resulting from continued government cutbacks.
The growth strategy for the Swedish pharmacy business continued to be
driven forward. As a result of improved cost management, the increased revenue
had a disproportionately high impact on earnings; however, they remained lower
than expected.
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Pharmacy Solutions division

Market environment and business development
Celesio combines its wholesale activities involving pharmaceutical products in
the Pharmacy Solutions division. Here, we supply pharmacists with the key
products that they need for their business. The pharmaceutical wholesale business
is a crucial link between drug manufacturers and pharmacies in supplying patients
with drugs.
With 133 (prior year 131) wholesale branches, Celesio operates in ten
European countries as well as Brazil, supplying approximately 65,000 pharmacies
every day.
The pharmaceutical wholesale business operates in a relatively stable market
environment that is not directly or immediately dependent on the economy.
However, the business is adversely affected by governmental measures in some
countries. In Europe, cheaper generic drugs are increasingly supplanting original
products. The intensive discount competition in Germany, which has come down
slowly from the peak in February this year, but which is still higher when compared
with the prior-year period, still presents the entire sector with major challenges.
However, there were two sides to the story in the Pharmacy Solutions division
in the first nine months of 2014. The pleasing trend in earnings in many countries,
in particular the United Kingdom and Norway, was offset by the challenges caused
by the discount competition in Germany compared with the prior-year period. In
addition, the poor trend in results in Brazil impacted on the earnings for the
segment.
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Revenue and operating results
Revenue
In the first nine months of 2014, revenue in the Pharmacy Solutions division
amounted to EUR 13,754.5m compared with EUR 13,476.5m in the prior-year
period. As a result, revenue increased by 2.1 %. Currency effects, caused by the
Brazilian real, as well as the deconsolidation of the Irish wholesale business in May
2013 weighed on business performance in the reporting period. After adjustments
for currency effects, revenue increased by 2.8%. Following additional adjustments
for the effects resulting from the change in the consolidated group, in particular
from the sale of the Irish wholesale business, revenue increased by 3.6%. The
decline in France was more than offset by markedly positive sales growth in
Germany, Norway, Brazil and Austria as well as some of the smaller entities.
Gross profit
The division's gross profit fell by 3.0% in the first nine months of 2014 from EUR
881.9m to EUR 855.8m. After adjustments for non-recurring effects, gross profit
fell by 2.8%. No adjustments were made to the figures for the prior-year period. At
6.2%, the gross profit margin in the first nine months of 2014 remained well below
the figure for the prior year of 6.5%. Here, the trend in the margin was affected by
the discount competition in Germany during the reporting period. Whilst the
discount level in Germany is still higher when compared with the prior-year period,
but slowly cooling down since February 2014. An additional levelling off of the
gross profit margin as a result of increasing sales figures in the high-priced, but
low-margin segment of prescription drugs in France and Germany was partially
offset by the counteractive effect of increased sales of more profitable generic
drugs in the United Kingdom. Good gross profit performance in Norway and
Slovenia sustained the offsetting effect in gross profit. After adjustments for
currency effects, gross profit decreased by 1.9%.
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EBITDA
Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) fell
significantly by 11.5% from EUR 272.5m to EUR 241.2m compared with the prioryear period. After adjustments for non-recurring effects, EBITDA fell by 10.4%.
Following additional adjustments for currency effects, EBITDA decreased
significantly by 11.6%.
EBIT
The division's EBIT (earnings before interest and taxes) fell by 49.2% from EUR
232.7m to EUR 118.3m in the first nine months of 2014. The extraordinary
impairment loss on the goodwill of our Brazilian activities was a significant factor
in this decrease in earnings. After adjustments for non-recurring effects, EBIT fell
significantly by 10.4%. As was shown by the trend in gross profit, this development
is largely due to the German business and increased sales of high-end but less
profitable products in France and Germany. Following additional adjustments for
currency effects, EBIT fell significantly by 12.1%.
PHARM ACY S OL UTION S
RE VE N UE AN D OPE RATING
RE S UL TS

1st to 3rd quarter 2013
EUR m OF REVENUE %

Revenue
Gross profit
adjusted 1)
EBITDA
adjusted 1)
EBIT
adjusted 1)
1)

13,476.5
881.9
881.9
272.5
274.8
232.7
235.0

100.0
6.5
6.5
2.0
2.0
1.7
1.7

1st to 3rd quarter 2014

Change on EUR Change in local
basis %
currency %

EUR m OF REVENUE %

13,754.5
855.8
857.6
241.2
246.1
118.3
210.6

100.0
6.2
6.2
1.8
1.8
0.9
1.5

2.1
– 3.0
– 2.8
– 11.5
– 10.4
– 49.2
– 10.4

2.8
– 2.1
– 1.9
– 12.8
– 11.6
– 55.2
– 12.1

Adjusted for special effects from defined non-recurring expenses and income.
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Performance in the individual countries
The market continued to decline in France. This negative effect could not be
offset through consistently applied measures to increase efficiency and slight
market share gains.
Our British wholesale activities posted a significant increase in revenue
following higher market shares of sales in generic drugs. This more favourable
product mix coupled with better purchasing conditions, more than compensated
additional transportation costs and therefore led to a pleasing rise in earnings.
The discount competition in Germany had a huge negative impact on earnings
in spite of solid market growth. The negative effects of this could not even be
sufficiently counteracted by a rigorously pursued cost reduction policy and market
share gains. In addition, higher sales of high-end products with lower gross profit
margins affected earnings. However, discounts have slowly been cooling down
compared with the peak in February this year.
Our activities in Brazil generated significant growth in revenue in the first nine
months of 2014. However, due to a weaker gross margin and increased costs this
growth did not translate into a growth in earnings. Impairment tests were
conducted due to an adjusted long-term earnings outlook. As result of this
process, non-cash impairment losses were recognised for the Brazilian wholesale
activities. You can find more detailed information on the operating results for the
group on page 17. In addition, the lack of sales tax benefits also impacted
performance. On 6 August 2014, Celesio AG announced the completion of the
transfer of the remaining 40 per cent of the Brazilian company Oncoprod S.A., São
Paulo. Celesio has held a majority stake of 60 per cent in the company since
September 2011. The transaction was concluded by 5 August 2014. However, there
was a one-off positive effect in other operating income resulting from the takeover
of the remaining Oncoprod shares. In the course of the transaction, the
contractually agreed earn-out component was settled with Oncoprod shares. In
addition, Celesio was reimbursed for defined risk from periods prior to the initial
acquisition. Those claims were also settled by the former owners with shares.
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On 28 April 2014, in Slovenia, the administrative court delivered its judgement
on the antitrust case against Kemofarmacija from 2010. The court upheld the
decision of the antitrust authority regarding the violation of Slovenian antitrust law
against our wholesale subsidiary. Kemofarmacija has lodged an appeal against the
decision. As regards the violation of European Antitrust Law, the court has
remanded the decision back to the Slovenian antitrust authority. A new decision
by the antitrust authority is expected within the next few months. Administrative
proceedings regarding a fine have now been initiated by the authority. The
outcome of this case still cannot be reliably determined in respect of either the
amount or the extent of the action. Consequently, no provision was recognised for
these risks.
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Financial position

Statement of cash flows
The cash outflow from operations for continuing operations came to
EUR – 78.3m in the first nine months of 2014, compared to cash inflow of
EUR 117.0m in the prior-year period. This trend was primarily the result of changes
in net operating assets. In both years the cut-off date had a negative effect on
trade receivables in the United Kingdom. In the first nine months of 2013 there
was a reporting date-related improvement in trade liabilities, which did not occur
again in the reporting period. In addition, the preparations for new exclusive
contracts in the UK led to increasing net operating assets. The cash outflow from
operations in the first nine months of 2014 was solely attributable to continuing
operations. By contrast, the cash inflow from discontinued operations in the prior
year was EUR 5.2m.
The cash outflow from investments for continuing operations came to
EUR – 106.7m in the reporting period, compared with cash outflow of EUR – 16.5m
in the first nine months of 2013. The change was mainly driven by a positive cash
effect in the prior-year period, which resulted from cash received from the sale of
subsidiaries as part of the sale of the wholesale and pharmacy business in the
Czech Republic and wholesale activities in Ireland. The cash outflow in the
reporting period was solely attributable to continuing operations. In the prior-year
period, payments received for the mail-order pharmacy DocMorris in particular led
to a cash inflow of EUR 11.8m.

Celesio Quarterly Financial Report Q1–Q3 2014

Financial position

029

Free cash flow for continuing operations as the balance from the cash outflow
from operations, the cash outflow for investment and interest paid and received
came to EUR – 271.5m in the first nine months of 2014 compared with EUR 33.3m
in the prior-year period. The change was mainly the result of an increase in the
cash outflow from operations and the increased cash outflow for investment
compared with the prior-year period. In the first nine months of 2013 there was an
additional cash inflow resulting from payments received from the sale of
subsidiaries, which did not occur again in the current reporting period.
In the reporting period, the cash outflow from financing activity came to EUR –
146.2m compared with a cash outflow of EUR – 261.8m in the prior year period.
This resulted primarily from the repayment of two promissory notes in the first
nine months of 2013. Compared with the prior-year period, the cash outflow for
the settlement of financial liabilities decreased by EUR 65.7m, while cash inflow
from borrowings increased by EUR 85.9m. As in the prior year, the cash outflow in
the reporting period was solely attributable to continuing operations.
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Assets position

On 30 September 2014, the total assets of the Celesio Group came to EUR
7,688.4m and was therefore EUR 90.1m below the comparable figure as at
31 December 2013.
On the reporting date, 30 September 2014, the gearing, i.e. the ratio of
outstanding debt to equity, was 0.39 and consequently improved significantly
compared with the gearing of 0.62 as at 31 December 2013. This was not least due
to the conversion of the convertible bonds into equity.
Compared with the end of 2013, non-current assets increased by EUR 59.1m
to EUR 3,096.9m. Of this figure, EUR 97.3m was attributable to currency effects
within goodwill, whilst EUR 77.5m related to investment in property, plant and
equipment. This was offset by impairment losses on goodwill at the Brazilian
subsidiaries of EUR 77.4m and the depreciation of other intangible assets of EUR
26.8m.
As at 30 September 2014, current assets stood at EUR 4,591.5m and were
therefore EUR 31.0m higher compared with 31 December 2013. Trade receivables
rose by EUR 258.6m to EUR 2,341.3m, which was primarily caused by an increase
in the United Kingdom as a result of the later scheduled incoming payment for
receivables from the British healthcare authority, the NHS, and due to higher
receivables in Germany, triggered by revenue growth. Currency effects amounting
to EUR 41.0m also had a positive impact on the increase in trade receivables.
Inventories increased by EUR 28.5m to EUR 1,626.3m as at 30 September 2014.
This is largely attributable to currency effects of EUR 42.5m, which was offset by
the reduction in inventories held in relation to the year end. As at 30 September
2014, cash and cash equivalents stood at EUR 218.4m compared with EUR 535.7m
on 31 December 2013. This equates to a decrease of EUR 317.3m and is mainly
due to a reporting date-related later scheduled incoming payment from the British
healthcare authority, the NHS, as well as dividend distributions and the repayment
of promissory notes. In addition, the premature termination of an interest-rate
swap led to a compensatory payment of EUR 27.2m. As at 30 September 2014,
other receivables and other assets increased by EUR 31.7m to EUR 354.6m.
Currency effects were a critical factor here. As at 30 September 2014, the Celesio
Group reported assets as held for sale in the amount of EUR 1.0m. The fall of EUR
1.5m compared with 31 December 2013 was due to the sale of property held for
sale.
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As at the reporting date, an increase in equity capital of EUR 605.7m to EUR
2,797.7m was apparent compared with the end of 2013. This trend is primarily
attributable to the conversions of convertible bonds concluded. The equity ratio
stood at 36.4% on 30 September 2014. This equates to an increase of 7.6
percentage points compared with the end of December 2013.
In total, non-current liabilities fell by EUR 236.9m to EUR 1,601.7m. In the
process, long-term debt decreased by EUR 334.8m to EUR 1,061.2m mainly due to
the conversions of the 2018 convertible bonds concluded. On the balance sheet
date, deferred tax liabilities also shrank by EUR 5.5m to EUR 36.2m. This was offset
by an increase in pension provisions of EUR 94.0m to EUR 430.8m mainly due to
interest rate effects leading to actuarial losses.
Current liabilities stood at EUR 3,289.0m on the balance sheet date and were
consequently down EUR 278.7m on the level at the end of 2013. Current debt
decreased by EUR 263.7m to EUR 239.4m in comparison with 31 December 2013.
This is primarily attributable to the conversions of the 2014 convertible bonds
concluded. Essentially, currency and reporting date-related effects from operations
were apparent in trade liabilities (EUR 2,298.4m on 30 September 2014 compared
with EUR 2,384.6m at the end of 2013) and in other liabilities (EUR 539.9m
compared with EUR 472.6m on 31 December 2013).
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Employees

On 30 September 2014, 28,651 employees (measured in full-time employees)
worked for Celesio, which is 0.1% less than on the prior-year reporting date
(28,668 employees). At the end of the reporting period, 15,068 employees (prior
year 14,909 employees) worked for the Consumer Solutions division. As of 30
September 2014, the Pharmacy Solutions division numbered 13,257 employees
(prior year 13,485 employees). The other employees are attributable to holding
functions.

Boards

On 14 March 2014, John H. Hammergren, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
of the McKesson Corporation was elected as the new Chairman of the Supervisory
Board. He succeeded Stephan Gemkow, who resigned his seat as of 13 March 2014.
At the same time, Paul C. Julian, Executive Vice President and Group President of
the McKesson Corporation, and Professor Dr Wilhelm Haarmann, Partner of
Linklaters LLP law firm, joined the Supervisory Board as additional shareholder
representatives. They succeeded Dr Florian Funck and Hanspeter Spek, who have
also retired from the Supervisory Board at Celesio AG. On 15 July 2014, the Annual
General Meeting elected John H. Hammergren, Paul C. Julian and Prof. Dr. Wilhelm
Haarmann to the Supervisory Board. Subsequent to the Annual General Meeting,
the Supervisory Board elected John H. Hammergren as the new Chairman of the
Supervisory Board.
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On 22 May 2014, a meeting of the Supervisory Board of Celesio AG appointed
Marc Owen, formerly President of McKesson Specialty Health and a member of
the McKesson Operating Team, and Alain Vachon, formerly Senior Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer of McKesson U.S. Pharmaceutical, to the Management
Board of Celesio AG with effect from 16 July 2014. Marc Owen assumed the
position of Chairman of the Management Board and Alain Vachon the position of
Chief Financial Officer. In agreement with the Supervisory Board, the former
Speaker of the Management Board and Chief Financial Officer Dr Marion Helmes
resigned her position on the Management Board of Celesio AG with effect from 15
July 2014 and left the company on that date. In addition, Martin Fisher, Chief
Operating Officer, resigned with effect from 22 May 2014 in agreement with the
Supervisory Board.
On 19 September, 2014, the Supervisory Board announced that they decided
two changes to the Management Board: Stephan Borchert, Member of the
Management Board and Chief Marketing & Sales Officer of Celesio AG, left the
company with the effect from 22 September 2014. The decision was made in
mutual agreement with the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board appointed
Tilo Köster to the Management Board of Celesio AG effective 23 September 2014.
He is responsible for Legal, Compliance and External Affairs.

Research and development

In the context of our operations as a services company, we do not need and do
not conduct any research and development. Of course, we constantly develop our
range of services and our IT infrastructure.
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Additional non-financial Information

Domination and profit and loss transfer agreement
On 15 July 2014, the Annual General Meeting of Celesio AG approved the
domination and profit and loss transfer agreement with Dragonfly GmbH & Co.
KGaA (controlling company). From the beginning of the abbreviated fiscal year,
beginning on 1 January 2015, Celesio AG will transfer all distributable profits to the
controlling company, provided that the agreement takes effect by reason of its
registration in the Commercial Register of Celesio AG by the end of this
abbreviated fiscal year, i.e. by 31 March 2015.
Adjustment to the fiscal year
The Annual General Meeting has agreed to adjust the company's fiscal year. In
order to standardise the fiscal year within the Group and to facilitate consolidated
accounting, in future the fiscal year will start on 1 April and will run until 31 March
of the following year. The period from 1 January 2015 to 31 March 2015
constitutes an abbreviated fiscal year.
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Risk and opportunities report

As a company operating internationally, we encounter a variety of
opportunities and risks as part of our various activities. We identify, assess and
pursue them with the help of our internal risk management system. The key
opportunities and risks for us are presented in detail in our Annual Report 2013
from page 170. In essence, there has been no change here. In particular, the
following opportunities and risks are relevant to our business development and
earnings in the 2014 fiscal year:
• The healthcare sector is a very dynamic market with constantly changing
conditions.
• Overall, the business of Celesio is subject to fierce competition. The operations
of the competitors of Celesio may affect its earnings. This is particularly
apparent in Germany.
• We operate in markets where payment structures are largely regulated by
government. Possible changes to these payment systems may affect our trend
in earnings.
• Patent protection for a number of top-selling original products is currently
expiring and will expire over the next few years. As a result, the proportion of
cheaper generic drugs on the market is increasing. In the medium term, this
could have an adverse impact on revenue and, depending on the local
reimbursement system, also on operating results.
• Celesio operates in various currency areas. Major changes in exchange rates
affect our earnings. The pound sterling is the most relevant currency because
of the substantial proportion of our earnings attributable to our business in the
United Kingdom. It is followed by the Norwegian krone and the Brazilian real.
• Changes in the market conditions in the healthcare sector are considered
critical to our success and may affect earnings. Among others, these include
business combinations between pharmaceutical manufacturers and exclusive
distribution models (e.g. DTP) in wholesale business. The intensification of
competition in the logistics sector as well as selective relaxations of the rules
ensuring that prescription drugs can only be sold in pharmacies are also of
relevance.
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•

•

Our revenue from OTC (over the counter) sales can also be affected by
fluctuations in the economy. At present, they make up some 20% of revenue in
the Consumer Solutions division.
As already mentioned in the management report, a judgement has been
delivered in Slovenia in the legal proceedings against the Celesio subsidiary
Kemofarmacija. The outcome of the subsequently initiated administrative
proceedings in terms of a fine still cannot be reliably foreseen in respect of
either the amount or the extent of the action.

Events after the reporting period

Since 30 September 2014 until the editorial deadline of 24 October 2014 there
had been no events of particular significance that can be expected to have a
material effect on the assets position and revenue and operating results of the
Celesio Group.
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Outlook

Overall economic prospects
Growth in the economy is expected to decelerate slowly over the rest of 2014
in the United States and in the United Kingdom, whereas the development within
the Euro-zone faces more headwinds. The Kiel Institute for the World Economy
(IfW) is also making the following assumptions:
For Germany, the experts at the IfW expect a revised growth in gross domestic
product of only 1.3% (2014) and 1.2% (2015) after 2.0% (2014) and 2.5% (2015).
Economic growth is also expected to continue to gather momentum on a
sustainable basis in the United Kingdom. Growth in gross domestic product of
3.0% (2014) and 2.2% (2015) is anticipated. In particular, a perceptible fall in the
unemployment rate is forecast, which should boost consumption by private
households.
France is unlikely to participate in this growth to the same extent and will post
growth in gross domestic product of 0.3% (2014) and 0.5% (2015). Gross domestic
product in the crisis-ridden countries around the Mediterranean is also expected
to stabilise – for example, the increase in gross domestic product in Portugal is
estimated at 0.8% (2014) and 1.5% (2015). Experts expect only a moderate rise in
consumer prices in 2014 and consequently inflation will stand at 0.5%. It is only
expected to increase slightly to 0.7% in 2015 as economic growth picks up.
The emerging and developing countries in Latin America are also anticipated to
report slower economic growth in 2014. For the area as a whole, experts expect an
increase in gross domestic product of 1.4% (2014) and 2.2% (2015).
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Our industry: growth in pharmaceutical markets, consolidation
and internationalisation
As a consequence of the global economic and financial crisis, the expiry of
many patents and on account of governmental austerity measures, growth in
pharmaceutical markets slowed throughout the world. However, IMS Health
expects growth to pick up again over the next few years, particularly in the
developing and emerging countries. For instance, IMS Health is forecasting average
annual growth in global pharmaceutical markets of 5.3% until 2017. Largely
double-digit growth in the markets of Asia, India and Latin America, which will be
driven by a steady increase in population and an increase in the quality of and
improved access to the healthcare system, is crucial to this development. IMS
Health is forecasting an annual growth rate of 12.7% for Brazil until 2017, while
annual average growth of 12.5% and 16.7% is expected for India and China. By
comparison, in Europe, IMS Health only expects annual growth of 0.9% until 2017
and growth of 2.2% per year for the USA.
Demographic change remains a key factor in the development of the global
pharmaceutical and healthcare markets. Admittedly, viewed globally, the
generation of people aged over 64 currently only accounts for just over 8% of the
world's population. However, this percentage will increase over the coming years
to around 9% in 2017. In industrial countries, the percentage of people aged over
80 in the population will increase from the current 4.5% to 9.5% by 2050. In
developing and emerging countries, the percentage of people aged over 80 will
increase by 2 percentage points to 3.2% by 2050. In absolute figures this means
that while there are currently around 63 million people in the 80+ age group, there
will be 268 million in 2050 (thereof 124 million people in industrial countries). This
trend will likely lead to an increase in demand for the treatment of chronic and
age-related illnesses, resulting in long-term medical treatment. This will lead to a
considerable increase in costs.
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In addition to demographic change, changes to lifestyle habits and to
consumer behaviour in both developing and western industrial countries, as well
as the increase in lifestyle diseases associated therewith are resulting in increased
demand for healthcare services and drugs. In 2013, for instance, 382 million
people throughout the world were suffering from diabetes. This figure will
increase to 592 million throughout the world by 2035. In Europe alone, the
number of sick people will increase from the current 56.3 million people
(approximately 8.5% of the population) to 68.9 million people (approximately 10%
of the population) by 2035.
A steady increase in health awareness in industrial countries and increasing
willingness on the part of consumers to spend their own money on healthcare
services are other factors that will influence the sector in the long-term and drive
growth in the pharmaceutical and healthcare markets.
Another growth driver are biotechnology-based drugs and drugs to treat
complex, frequently chronic diseases such as cancer, HIV or multiple sclerosis.
These so-called "speciality pharmaceuticals" are comparatively expensive and
place particular demands on transport and storage (short shelf-life, need for
refrigeration at all times), which can generate value added in the pharmaceutical
supply chain in particular. According to IMS Health, average annual growth in the
"speciality pharmaceuticals" segment in the eight largest developed
pharmaceutical markets will amount to around 8% between 2010 and 2020
compared with growth of 4% for traditional drugs.
The central challenge for pharmaceutical and healthcare markets and, in
particular, for pharmaceutical distribution markets as well, lies in ongoing
governmental regulation of prices in all parts of the pharmaceutical value added
chain, combined with the effects of the expiry of increasing numbers of patents for
top-selling drugs and the growth in the comparatively cheap generic drug segment
associated therewith. There are signs of increased consolidation in our industry,
particularly in established markets, as a response to the unremittingly difficult
market environment. In addition, we are faced with increasing expansion and
internationalisation in so-called "pharmerging markets" such as India and Russia
and, in particular, Brazil and China. Global purchasing partnerships are also
emerging in some cases with the aim of realising purchasing benefits and
economies of scale in the generic drug sector in particular.
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Divisions
Consumer Solutions
Despite governmental intervention in some markets, of which we are already
aware, we expect operating earnings for the Consumer Solutions division to grow
in 2014 compared with the past fiscal year. This will be driven primarily by the
implementation of our new European Pharmacy Network under the "Lloyds" brand
name. However, the uplift potential will be limited due to some minor
governmental intervention in 2014.
In the United Kingdom, we expect a positive performance from
Lloydspharmacy. The development of synergies from closer integration of our
wholesale and pharmacy business is also expected to continue in 2014. The
purchasing initiative Top-in-Class procurement will continue to have a positive
impact. The gradual implementation of the pharmacy network and the further
expansion of the service business will be further key value driver in 2014. The new
pharmacy concept will allow us to achieve substantial growth rates in our two
focus areas of "skin" and "pain", in particular. This process will also support the
increasing switch to a higher-margin product mix.
In Norway, we are expecting earnings to remain at least stable. Countryspecific higher wage inflation costs will be at least offset by increased
contributions to earnings resulting from the rise in non-prescription revenue.
In Sweden we shall cautiously expand our footprint. The normal start-up
losses associated with opening new pharmacies will be reduced through
improvements in our process for selecting locations and will not prove such a
burden as the older locations are now market-ready.
The economic situation remains difficult on the Irish market. The healthcare
system is still subject to restrictive clawbacks. However, in recent years, we have
shown that we can cope with the problems better than the market as a whole.
Nevertheless, earnings will not quite reach the prior year's figure.
For our Italian activities we expect an increase in revenue and earnings.
Governmental measures will be offset by an increase in non-prescription sales.
In 2014, our operations in Belgium will again be affected by challenging market
conditions.
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Pharmacy Solutions
For the 2014 fiscal year, we assume that the challenging market environment will
remain, which will have an adverse impact on the business development of the
Pharmacy Solutions division. These burdens can only be partially offset through
continual optimisation, particularly in purchasing.
Our German business still heavily influences the group earnings situation.
Following further intensification of the discount competition in the first quarter
2014, we have seen clear signs in the course of the second quarter 2014 that sense
is returning. This will lead to a gradual slowdown in the discount competition.
However, improvements to the market conditions take place at a slow rate.
Therefore, we expect earnings to be significantly below the prior year.
In France, we are still faced with difficult conditions caused by the declining
market in 2014. We therefore expect revenue to be down on the prior year's
figure. Despite the ongoing optimisation of the cost structure, earnings will come
down more than revenue.
In the United Kingdom, we expect revenue and results of operations to climb
considerably in 2014, due to improved purchasing conditions and gains in market
share.
In Norway, we expect an increase in sales and higher earnings thanks to
continuing measures to improve efficiency. This will partially offset the provisions
for restructuring expenses due to the loss of a large customer in 2015.
Taking the complex environment into account, an extraordinary impairment
loss was made on our Brazilian activities at the time of preparing the financial
statements for the half-year financial report. Even though, we expect an increase
in revenue, an ongoing challenging earnings situation as well as the lack of sales
tax benefits will impact performance considerably.
In Austria, we expect solid revenue and results of operations in 2014 thanks to
a good cost management and operational performance.
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Investment
The roll-out of the European Pharmacy Network will lead to increased investment.
We shall also continue with the standardisation of our software environment,
which is why IT investment will rise. Overall, we therefore expect investment to
exceed the low figure of 2013.
Depreciation and amortisation
Because of the expected increase in investment year on year, we assume that
there will be a slight increase in scheduled depreciation. Amortisation in the 2014
fiscal year will decrease due the full scheduled depreciation of some intangible
assets towards the end of prior year.
Financial result
With regard to the financial result, we expect far lower interest expense in 2014
than in the past fiscal year. As part of the change of control, all convertible bonds
were converted into shares or repaid, which considerably reduced the level of debt
and interest expense and increased the equity capital of Celesio significantly.
The assumption is that interest rates will remain stable, meaning that no further
significant changes in earnings are expected.
The financial result may be adversely affected by further appreciation in the euro,
particularly against the Brazilian real.
Tax ratio
The adjusted tax ratio may be affected by a change in the mix of contributions to
earnings from countries with different tax ratios or a change in country-specific
effective tax ratios. On an adjusted basis it will probably again be one to two
percentage points below the corresponding ratio for 2013. On the basis of current
assumptions, no significant effects on the tax ratio are expected from the
acquisition by McKesson.
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Domination and profit and loss transfer agreement
On 23 January 2014, McKesson Corporation, San Francisco, USA announced its
intention to conclude a domination and profit and loss transfer agreement (DPLA)
with Celesio AG as a controlled company after completing its takeover.
Subsequently the Management Board of Celesio AG began negotiations with
Dragonfly GmbH & Co. KGaA, a fully-owned subsidiary of McKesson Corporation,
with a view to concluding a DPLA. In this regard, a cash compensation per Celesio
AG share, in accordance with Section 305 AktG, and a fixed guaranteed dividend or
a fixed recurring compensation payment per Celesio AG share for each full fiscal
year, in accordance with Section 304 AktG, were determined. Both the payment of
the cash compensation and the payment of the fixed guaranteed dividend or the
fixed recurring compensation payment depend on the effectiveness of the DPLA.
After the Annual General Meeting of Celesio AG approved the DPLA on 15 July
2014, the DPLA will become effective upon its registration in the Commercial
Register of Celesio AG. The registration of the DPLA is expected to take place by
the end of 2014 fiscal year.
Employees
There will be no material change in employee numbers in 2014.
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Revenue and earnings forecast
The following comments on the future course of business and on the assumptions
about the economic development of the market and industry are based on
assessments by the Management Board, which the Board currently views as
realistic on the basis of the available information. However, the future
development of our divisions is dependent on various factors that are outside the
sphere of influence of Celesio and can therefore only be forecast to a limited
degree. These include, for example, the future economic and regulatory
environment, the behaviour of competitors and other market participants as well
as government intervention in the healthcare and social systems. In particular, any
continuation of the intensive discount competition in Germany may affect our
earnings forecast. The following forecasts by the Management Board of Celesio AG
assume that there will be stable exchange rates, similar interest rates and a
comparable consolidated group.
In 2014, we shall also take progressive measures to optimise companies' levels
of efficiency, in addition to the optimisation of cost structures. The expansion of
our European Pharmacy Network will also have a positive impact, enabling us to
grow even more strongly from 2015 onwards. However, these revenues will still be
reduced in part by IT project costs in 2014.
The unfavourable situation in Germany, France and Brazil is affecting earnings
to a greater extent than previously expected. Additionally, the group faced higher
allowances for debts in Portugal. Overall, the Management Board expects that we
shall achieve an adjusted EBIT in the 2014 fiscal year that is slightly below the prior
year. Accordingly, we also expect Value Added and ROCE ratios to be below the
prior year level due to the impairments in Brazil and in software in 2014.
With regard to revenue growth for 2014, the Management Board of Celesio AG
is assuming a slight increase in revenue in the lower single-digit percent range.
To date, non-recurring effects are due to unscheduled impairment losses on
goodwill (EUR 77.4m) and other intangible assets belonging to the Brazilian
activities (EUR 6.6m), as well as depreciation and amortisation on surplus IT
infrastructure in the United Kingdom (EUR 20.2m) totalling EUR 104.2m. The
integration costs previously incurred in connection with the planned and
completed takeover by the McKesson Corporation accounted for non-recurring
effects of EUR 34.5m. Overall, the Management Board expects additional nonrecurring effects in the low double-digit millions for the remaining months of the
fiscal year. These non-recurring effects are not taken into account in the forecast,
which only relates to adjusted EBIT.
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Consolidated income statement

3rd quarter

EUR m
Revenue
Overall performance
Cost of materials
Gross profit
Other operating income
Other operating expenses
Personnel expenses
EBITDA
Depreciation on intangible assets held as non-current
assets and on property, plant and equipment
Impairment losses recorded on intangible assets and
property, plant
and equipment
EBIT
Result from associates accounted for using the equity
method
Result from other investments
Interest expense
Interest income
Other financial result
Profit before tax from continuing operations
Income taxes
Net profit/loss from continuing operations
Net profit/loss from discontinued operations
Net profit/loss
Of which attributable to non-controlling interests
Of which attributable to shareholders of Celesio AG
Earnings per share – undiluted
Net profit/loss from continuing operations
Net profit/loss from discontinued operations
Net profit/loss
Earnings per share – diluted
Net profit/loss from continuing operations
Net profit/loss from discontinued operations
Net profit/loss
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Consolidated income statement

1st to 3rd quarter

2013
5,258.1
5,258.1
– 4,679.2
578.9
52.7
– 189.3
– 310.5
131.8

2014
5,529.2
5,529.2
– 4,930.9
598.3
54.3
– 196.9
– 321.3
134.4

2013
15,991.1
15,991.1
– 14,244.9
1,746.2
151.6
– 573.5
– 925.0
399.3

2014
16,460.0
16,460.0
– 14,693.2
1,766.8
149.8
– 587.2
– 959.9
369.5

– 30.7

– 29.8

– 94.9

– 91.5

– 0.7
100.4

– 1.3
103.3

– 1.1
303.3

– 104.3
173.7

1.9
1.3
– 37.9
2.0
– 5.8
61.9
– 23.5
38.4
– 3.0
35.4
0.6
34.8

2.4
2.5
– 22.4
2.4
– 3.3
84.9
– 32.3
52.6
– 0.1
52.5
0.2
52.3

3.7
4.9
– 109.2
5.8
– 10.9
197.6
– 71.4
126.2
– 5.4
120.8
5.1
115.7

6.4
5.8
– 72.9
6.1
– 0.5
118.6
– 81.0
37.6
– 0.9
36.7
2.7
34.0

EUR
0.22
– 0.02
0.20
EUR
0.22
– 0.02
0.20

EUR
0.26
0.00
0.26
EUR
0.26
0.00
0.26

EUR
0.71
– 0.03
0.68
EUR
0.70
– 0.03
0.67

EUR
0.18
0.00
0.18
EUR
0.18
0.00
0.18
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

3rd quarter

EUR m
Net profit/loss
Items that may not be recycled through profit or loss
Revaluation of defined benefit pension plans
Share in the revaluation of defined benefit pension plans
attributable to associates accounted for using the equity
method
Items that may be recycled through profit or loss
Unrealised gains/losses from the current year
Gains/losses recycled through profit or loss
Unrealised gains/losses from the market valuation of
financial assets available-for-sale
Unrealised gains/losses from the current year
Gains/losses recycled through profit or loss
Unrealised gains from derivative financial instruments used
to hedge cash flows
Foreign currency translation posted directly to other
comprehensive income
Release to profit or loss due to loss of control
Exchange differences
Other comprehensive income after tax
From continuing operations
Of which attributable to non-controlling interests
Of which attributable to shareholders of Celesio AG
From discontinued operations
Of which attributable to non-controlling interests
Comprehensive income
From continuing operations
Of which attributable to non-controlling interests
Of which attributable to shareholders of Celesio AG
From discontinued operations

1st to 3rd quarter

2013
35.4
16.1
16.2

2014
52.5
– 58.4
– 58.4

2013
120.8
8.7
5.2

2014
36.7
– 88.7
– 84.7

0.0
4.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
33.2
– 0.3
0.0

3.5
– 73.5
0.0
0.0

– 4.0
100.6
– 0.7
0.0

0.0
– 0.1
3.6

– 0.3
0.0
0.3

0.0
2.0
8.5

– 0.7
– 1.0
2.1

3.5

0.4

10.5

1.1

0.5
0.0
0.5
20.2
20.2
– 1.4
21.6
0.0
0.0
55.6
58.6
– 0.8
59.4
– 3.0

33.1
0.0
33.1
– 25.2
– 25.2
– 0.1
– 25.1
0.0
0.0
27.3
27.4
0.1
27.3
– 0.1

– 84.0
0.0
– 84.0
– 64.8
– 64.8
– 3.5
– 61.3
0.0
0.0
56.0
61.4
1.6
59.8
– 5.4

100.2
0.0
100.2
11.9
11.9
1.9
10.0
0.0
0.0
48.6
49.5
4.6
44.9
– 0.9

1) These amounts are attributable in full to the shareholders of Celesio AG.

Further notes to other comprehensive income are listed on page 76.
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Consolidated statement of financial position

31/12/2013

30/09/2014

EUR m
Non-current assets
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Associates accounted for using the equity method
Other financial assets
Other non-current assets
Income tax receivables
Deferred tax assets

3,037.8
2,199.0
506.9
78.9
109.5
39.8
2.0
101.7

3,096.9
2,222.1
526.3
77.2
113.7
32.4
2.0
123.2

Current assets
Inventories
Trade receivables
Income tax receivables
Other receivables and other assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Assets held for sale

4,560.5
1,597.8
2,082.7
18.9
322.9
535.7
2.5

4,591.5
1,626.3
2,341.3
49.9
354.6
218.4
1.0

Total assets

7,598.3

7,688.4

AS S E TS
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31/12/2013

30/09/2014

EUR m
Equity
Issued capital
Capital reserves
Revenue reserves
Revaluation reserves
Stake of the shareholders of Celesio AG
Non-controlling interests

2,192.0
217.7
1,186.0
1,191.3
– 437.0
2,158.0
34.0

2,797.7
260.1
1,783.2
1,172.9
– 434.9
2,781.3
16.4

Liabilities

5,406.3

4,890.7

Non-current liabilities
Financial liabilities
Pension provisions
Other non-current liabilities
Other liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities

1,838.6
1,396.0
336.8
63.8
0.3
41.7

1,601.7
1,061.2
430.8
66.3
7.2
36.2

Current liabilities
Financial liabilities
Trade payables
Other current provisions
Income tax liabilities
Other liabilities
Liabilities held for sale

3,567.7
503.1
2,384.6
144.0
63.4
472.6
0.0

3,289.0
239.4
2,298.4
122.1
89.2
539.9
0.0

Total assets

7,598.3

7,688.4

E QUITY AN D L IABIL ITIE S
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

EUR m
Net profit/loss from continuing operations
Amortisation, depreciation and impairment of
non-current intangible and property, plant and equipment
Result from associates accounted for using the equity
method and other equity investments
Dividends received
Financial result
Net result from the disposal of non-current assets and
subsidiaries
Impairment losses on items classified as operating assets
Change in deferred taxes and income taxes
Income taxes paid
Other non-cash income and expenses
Change in net operating assets
Change in inventories
Change in trade receivables
Change in trade payables
Change in other net operating assets
Change in other assets and liabilities
Change in other assets
Change in other liabilities
Net cash flow from operating activites continuing activities
Net cash flow from operating activites - discontinued operations
Net cash flow from operating activites continuing and discontinued operations
Proceeds from the disposal of non-current assets
Capital expenditure on non-current assets
Proceeds from the disposal of subsidiaries
Cash paid for business combinations

1st to 3rd quarter
2013
2014
126.2
37.6
96.0

195.8

– 8.6
6.3
114.3

– 12.2
7.5
67.3

0.0
33.7
71.4
– 72.4
20.9
– 191.1
40.8
– 235.0
43.4
– 40.3
– 79.7
– 31.5
– 48.2

– 2.7
37.5
81.0
– 88.0
18.2
– 362.3
– 26.6
– 225.2
– 145.7
35.2
– 58.0
– 5.8
– 52.2

117.0
5.2

– 78.3
0.0

122.2
9.8
– 67.4
43.3
– 2.2

– 78.3
11.5
– 101.4
2.6
– 19.4

1) This item includes the cash payments for the costs directly related to the disposal of operations.
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EUR m
Net cash flow from investing activites - continuing operations
Net cash flow from investing activities - discontinued operations
Net cash flow from investing activites - continuing and discontinued operations
Payments made to shareholders (including non-controlling interests)
Payments made in connection with the change in ownership interests in
subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control
Proceeds from borrowings
Repayment of borrowings
Interest paid
Interest received
Net cash flow from financing activites - continuing operations
Net cash flow from financing activites - discontinued operations
Net cash flow from financing activites - continuing and discontinued operations
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Non-cash change in cash and equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period
Cash and cash equivalents of discontinued operations and disposal groups at the
end of the period
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period
(according to the group statement of financial position)
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1st to 3rd quarter
2013
2014
– 16.5
– 106.7
11.8
0.0
– 4.7
– 106.7
– 52.2
– 53.1
0.0
158.0
– 300.4
– 72.6
5.4
– 261.8
0.0
– 261.8
– 144.3
– 5.8
523.9
373.8

– 15.9
243.9
– 234.7
– 91.8
5.4
– 146.2
0.0
– 146.2
– 331.2
13.9
535.7
218.4

0.0

0.0

373.8

218.4

Consolidated statement of cash flows
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

EUR m
As of 01/01/2014
Changes in equity
Dividends
Changes in the amount of the shareholding in subsidiaries involving
no loss of control
Changes to the consolidated group
Other comprehensive income
Net profit/loss
Comprehensive income
As of 30/09/2014
As of 01/01/2013
Changes in equity
Dividends
Changes in the amount of the shareholding in subsidiaries involving
no loss of control
Changes to the consolidated group
Other comprehensive income
Net profit/loss
Comprehensive income
As of 30/09/2013

Issued
capital

Capital
reserves

Revenue
reserves

217.7
42.4
0.0

1,186.0
597.2
0.0

1,191.3
0.0
– 51.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
260.1

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
1,783.2

– 2.7
1.3
0.0
34.0
34.0
1,172.9

217.7
0.0
0.0

1,186.0
0.0
0.0

1,091.2
0.0
– 51.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
217.7

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
1,186.0

0.0
– 8.8
0.0
115.7
115.7
1,147.1

1) Of which attributable to discontinued operations and disposal groups EUR 0.0 m (previous year EUR – 5.0m).
2) Of which attributable to discontinued operations EUR 0.0 m (previous year EUR – 7.4m).
3) Of which attributable to discontinued operations and disposal groups EUR 0.0 m (previous year EUR – 12.4 m).
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Revaluation reserves

Stake of the
shareholders
of Celesio AG

Noncontrolling
interests

Equity

Translation
reserves

Revaluation
of
defined
benefit
plans

Asset
revaluation
reserves

– 280.8
0.0
0.0

– 154.1
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.8
0.0
0.0

– 0.5
0.0
0.0

– 2.4
0.0
0.0

2,158.0
639.6
– 51.0

34.0
0.0
– 2.1

2,192.0
639.6
– 53.1

– 6.6
0.0
102.8
0.0
102.8
– 184.6 ¹

0.0
0.0
– 90.0
0.0
– 90.0
– 244.1 ²

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
– 0.6
0.0
– 0.6
0.2

0.0
– 1.3
1.8
0.0
1.8
0.0

0.0
0.0
– 4.0
0.0
– 4.0
– 6.4

– 9.3
0.0
10.0
34.0
44.0
2,781.3 ³

– 20.2
0.1
1.9
2.7
4.5
16.4

– 29.5
0.1
11.9
36.7
48.5
2,797.7

– 159.4
0.0
0.0

– 151.6
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

– 16.4
0.0
0.0

– 5.9
0.0
0.0

2,161.6
0.0
– 51.0

34.3
0.0
– 1.2

2,195.9
0.0
– 52.2

0.0
0.0
– 91.3
0.0
– 91.3
– 250.7 ¹

0.0
8.8
15.7
0.0
15.7
– 127.1 ²

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
10.8
0.0
10.8
– 5.6

0.0
0.0
3.5
0.0
3.5
– 2.4

0.0
0.0
– 61.3
115.7
54.4
2,165.0 ³

0.0
0.0
– 3.5
5.1
1.6
34.7

0.0
0.0
– 64.8
120.8
56.0
2,199.7
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Condensed notes to the consolidated financial
statements

Consolidated segment reporting by division
1 S T TO 3 RD QUARTE R 20 1 4

EUR m
Income statement
Revenue
External revenue
Inter-segment revenue
Gross profit
EBITDA
Impairment losses
recorded on intangible
assets and property, plant
and equipment
EBIT
Segment assets
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Consumer
Solutions

Pharmacy
Solutions

Others

Consolidation

Group
(continuing
operations)

Discontinued
operations

2,706.0
2,705.9
0.1
911.0
212.1

13,754.5
13,754.1
0.4
855.8
241.2

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
– 83.8

– 0.5
0.0
– 0.5
0.0
0.0

16,460.0
16,460.0
0.0
1,766.8
369.5

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

– 16.8
149.6
2,209.9

– 87.5
118.3
2,066.6

0.0
– 94.2
– 33.3

0.0
0.0
0.0

– 104.3
173.7
4,243.2

0.0
0.0
0.0

Condensed notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Consolidated segment reporting by division
1 S T TO 3 RD QUARTE R 20 1 3

EUR m
Income statement
Revenue
External revenue
Inter-segment revenue
Gross profit
EBITDA
Impairment losses
recorded on intangible
assets and property, plant
and equipment
EBIT
Segment assets

Consumer
Solutions

Pharmacy
Solutions

Others

Consolidation

Group
(continuing
operations)

Discontinued
operations

2,514.8
2,514.6
0.2
864.3
188.8

13,476.5
13,476.5
0.0
881.9
272.5

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
– 61.7

– 0.2
0.0
– 0.2
0.0
– 0.3

15,991.1
15,991.1
0.0
1,746.2
399.3

19.1
19.1
0.0
2.9
0.3

– 1.1
142.0
1,989.1

0.0
232.7
2,086.0

0.0
– 71.1
– 53.7

0.0
– 0.3
– 0.1

– 1.1
303.3
4,021.3

0.0
0.3
0.0
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2013

2014

EUR m
Revenue of the reportable segments
Consolidation
Group revenue

15,991.3
– 0.2
15,991.1

16,460.5
– 0.5
16,460.0

RE CON CIL IATION OF S E GM EN T E ARN ING S

2013

2014

303.3

173.7

3.7
4.9
– 109.2
5.8
– 10.9
197.6

6.4
5.8
– 72.9
6.1
– 0.5
118.6

30/09/2013

30/09/2014

4,021.4
– 0.1
4,021.3
46.6
33.8
100.6
1.1
373.8
0.0
62.9
137.5
2,263.5
443.8
7,484.9

4,243.2
0.0
4,243.2
52.7
51.9
123.2
2.3
218.4
0.0
66.3
122.1
2,298.4
509.9
7,688.4

RE CON CIL IATION OF S E GM EN T RE VE N UE
1 S T TO 3 RD QUARTE R

1 S T TO 3 RD QUARTE R

EUR m
EBIT
Result from associates accounted for using the equity
method
Result from other investments
Interest expense
Interest income
Other financial result
Profit before tax from continuing operations
RE CON CIL IATION OF S E GM EN T AS S E TS

EUR m
Segment assets of the reportable segments
Consolidation
Segment assets of the group
+ Interest-bearing other financial assets
+ Non-current and current income tax receivables
+ Deferred tax assets
+ Other assets
+ Cash and cash equivalents
+ Assets of discontinued operations
- Other non-current provisions
- Other current provisions
- Trade liabilities
- Other liabilities
Total net assets
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Accounting and measurement policies
The condensed consolidated interim report of Celesio AG for the nine months
of 2014 – comprising the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, consolidated balance sheet, consolidated statement of
cash flows, consolidated statement of changes in equity and selected notes – has
been prepared on the basis of International Accounting Standard (IAS) 34 – Interim
Reporting. All the applicable International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) of
the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), London, approved for use in
the European Union as at 30 September 2014, and all the interpretations (IFRIC) of
the International Financial Reporting Standards Interpretation Committee were
complied with. The accounting policies applied in the preparation of the condensed interim report essentially correspond to those used in the consolidated
financial statements as at 31 December 2013. The condensed interim report
should therefore be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements
of Celesio AG for the fiscal year 2013. Deviations from these policies are explained
in the following paragraph.
As a result of the application of the standard "IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial
Statements", compulsory since 1 January 2014, which replaces regulations on
preparing the consolidated financial statements in the former "IAS 27 – Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements" and "SIC-12 – Consolidation – Special
Purpose Entities", there was no major impact on the scope of consolidation of
Celesio AG and therefore on the consolidated interim report. Furthermore, the
initial application of "IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements", which replaces "IAS 31 –
Interest in Joint Ventures" and "SIC-13 – Jointly Controlled Entities – Non-Monetary
Contributions by Venturers", and the newly issued standard "IFRS 12 – Disclosure
of Interests in Other Entities" did not have any impact on the consolidated interim
report. In addition, the amendment to IAS 32 "Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities" and the amendment to IAS 39 "Novation of Derivatives and
Continuation of Hedge Accounting" were applied as compulsory as of 1 January
2014, each without any impact on the consolidated interim report.
The consolidated financial statements were prepared in euro. Unless otherwise
stated, all figures are provided in millions of euros (EUR m). Please note that differences can result from the use of rounded amounts and percentages due to financial rounding.
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Consolidated group
Business combinations and sales of subsidiaries in the first nine months of 2014
Business combinations
In the first nine months of 2014, five retail pharmacies in Norway, seven retail
pharmacies in Ireland and one retail pharmacy in the United Kingdom were 100%
acquired and fully consolidated as a result of measures to optimise the portfolio in
the Consumer Solutions division.
Furthermore, the German company GesuCon GmbH, a provider of IT solutions for
optimising pharmacists' ordering and stock management, was 100% acquired and
fully consolidated in the Others division.
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The key information about the companies acquired in the first nine months of
2014 is as follows:
EUR m
Consideration transferred
Purchase price payment
Contingent consideration
Shares previously recognised using the equity method
Revaluation of shares previously recognised
using the equity method

Total
26.6
18.0
7.2
1.4
0.0

Cash purchase price

14.2

Fair value of assets and liabilities assumed
Total assets
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Inventories
Trade receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Other assets

11.1
2.6
0.5
1.7
1.8
3.8
0.7

Total liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Trade payables
Other liabilities

4.1
0.8
1.3
2.0

Goodwill

19.6

Non-controlling interests

0.0

Incidental acquisition costs of EUR 0.3m were recognised in other operating expenses. No treasury shares were issued to settle purchase price liabilities.
The fair value of receivables acquired amounts to EUR 2.5m and equates to the
gross amounts of contractual receivables. Trade receivables amounting to EUR 1.8m
are included in this figure.
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The resulting goodwill mainly represents the future prospects expected with
the respective acquisition and the value of the experience among the employees
acquired, and are tax deductible in the amount of EUR 0.4m.
Revenue of EUR 9.5m and a net profit of EUR 0.8m are attributable to the
companies acquired in the 2014 fiscal year. If these companies had been acquired
at the beginning of the fiscal year, they would have contributed EUR 12.0m to the
revenues and EUR 0.6m to the net profit of the group.
Change in contingent considerations
In the 2014 fiscal year, the contingent considerations carried as liabilities in accordance with IFRS 3, which was revised in 2008 and has been applicable since 2010,
increased by EUR 0.8m. Access to a new contingent consideration of EUR 7.2m was
offset by repayment of contingent considerations amounting to EUR 6.4m. Adjustments to the current value of contingent considerations are mainly determined on the
basis of an earnings variable taking account of long-term planning. This did not result
in any material adjustments to the ranges for the contingent considerations at the end
of the 2014 fiscal year.
A contingent consideration asset was recognised with a fair value of EUR 8.2m
as gain and utilised for the partially acquisition of remaining Oncoprod shares.
Sales of subsidiaries
In the first nine months 2014, 19 retail pharmacies in the United Kingdom
were sold as a result of measures to streamline the portfolio. The considerations
received amounted to EUR 5.2m (EUR 5.2m of which was cash). Assets of
EUR 0.6m, which were solely property, plant and equipment, were sold. Disposal
costs of EUR 0.1m were incurred, some of which were transaction costs. The profit
on disposal amounted to EUR 3.7m. It is shown in other operating earnings.
Changes in the amount of subsidiaries' shareholdings involving no loss of
control
In the course of the transaction with the minority shareholders of Oncoprod
the contractually agreed transaction was accounted for as an equity transaction
with the following result:
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EUR m
Consideration transferred to non-controlling shareholders
Carrying value of additional interest in Oncoprod
Difference recognized in retained earnings within equity
thereof recognized in currency revaluation reserve

Total
– 32.0
20.2
11.8
6.5

Furthermore, minor additional stakes were acquired in the Pharmacy Solutions
division in Slovenia and in the Others division in France. The effects on retained
earnings were also correspondingly minor.

Business combinations and sales of subsidiaries in the first nine
months of 2013
Business combinations
The key information about the companies acquired in the first nine months of
2013 is as follows:
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EUR m
Consideration transferred
Purchase price payment
Contingent consideration
Shares previously recongnised using the equity method
Revaluation of shares previously recognised
using the equity method

Total
2.5
2.2
0.3
0.0
0.0

Cash purchase price

1.8

Fair value of assets and liabilities assumed
Total assets
Property, plant and equipment
Inventories
Trade receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

0.8
0.1
0.2
0.1
0.4

Total liabilities
Other liabilities

0.5
0.5

Goodwill

2.2

Non-controlling interests

0.0

No significant incidental acquisition costs were incurred.
The resultant goodwill mainly represents the future prospects expected with
the acquisitions and the value of the experience among the employees acquired,
and is tax deductible in the amount of EUR 1.2m.
Revenue of EUR 1.4m and an earnings contribution of EUR 0.3m were attributable in the prior-year period to the companies acquired in the 2013 fiscal year. If
these companies had been acquired at the beginning of the comparative period,
they would have contributed EUR 2.5m to the revenues of the group. They would
have contributed EUR 0.2m to the net profit of the group.
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Sales of subsidiaries
Four retail pharmacies in the United Kingdom and one retail pharmacy in Sweden were sold in the first nine months of 2013 as a result of measures to streamline the portfolio.
Rudolf Spiegel GmbH and RSV-équipment SARL were also disposed of.
The consideration received amounted to EUR 2.0m (of which EUR 1.9m cash).
Assets of EUR 2.0m (mainly inventories and receivables) and liabilities of EUR
1.0m were disposed of. Costs were incurred to make the sale, which also includes
transactions costs. The profit on disposal amounted to EUR 0.2m. It is shown in
other operating earnings.
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Non-recurring expenses in the consolidated income statement
Non-recurring effects amounting to EUR 145.0m overall weighed on earnings
in the first nine months of 2014. These non-recurring effects are due in particular
to the unscheduled impairment losses on goodwill (amounting to EUR 77.4m) and
other intangible assets belonging to the Brazilian activities (amounting to EUR
6.6m), and depreciation and amortisation on surplus IT infrastructure in the United
Kingdom (amounting to EUR 20.2m). Additional non-recurring effects occurred due
to contractual claims from retired members of the Management Board and other
related obligations, to legal and other consultancy expenses in connection with the
takeover by the McKesson Corporation (amounting totally to EUR 34.5m) and to
provisions for restructuring expenses in Norway (amounting to EUR 5.7m).
In contrast, non-recurring effects amounting to EUR 8.8m weighed on earnings
in the reference period.
Unscheduled impairment test
Pursuant to "IAS 36 – Impairment of Assets", a company must assess on each
reporting date whether there is any indication that an asset could be impaired and,
in such a case, must determine the recoverable amount of the asset or cashgenerating unit. The assets to which IAS 36 applies were therefore subjected to an
impairment test.
Goodwill and trade names are assumed to have an indefinite useful life. This
also applies to acquired trade names, provided there is no intended time limit on
their use. The impairment test is conducted according to the allocation of goodwill
or trade names to a level of so-called cash-generating units. The composition of
the cash-generating units has remained unchanged since the end of the year. If
necessary, forecasts have been adjusted to reflect the latest findings and capitalisation interest rates have been recalculated.
An impairment loss is recorded at the amount by which the carrying amount
exceeds the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the two
figures value in use and fair value, less costs of disposal. Value in use is generally
used as the measurement benchmark and corresponds to the present value of
future cash flows that can be allocated to the unit under consideration, calculated
using the discounted cash flow method.
Due to an adjusted long-term earnings outlook at the Wholesale Brazil cashgenerating unit, an unscheduled impairment test was required at 30 June 2014,
which resulted in the valuation being adjusted by a total of EUR 84.0m. A large portion of the unscheduled depreciation and amortisation, amounting to EUR 77.4m,
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related to goodwill dating back primarily to acquisitions in 2009 and 2011. This
amount was fully impaired. In addition, brand rights for Brazilian activities amounting
to EUR 6.6m were subject to an unscheduled impairment, as the value in use was
below the carrying amount not including goodwill.
As part of the impairment test, forecasts were adjusted to reflect the latest
findings and capitalisation interest rates were recalculated, if necessary. The total
cost of capital used in the unscheduled impairment test at 30 June 2014 for the
Wholesale Brazil cash-generating unit was 15.0%, compared with 15.1% used in
the scheduled impairment test on 31 October 2013.

Discontinued operations and disposal groups
General
As part of its far-reaching strategic realignment and portfolio optimisation, in
2012 Celesio announced plans to initiate the sale of a range of companies and
activities that no longer formed part of the company's core business. Consequently, it sold the Movianto business unit, with the exception of Movianto Ireland, the
Pharmexx business unit and the DocMorris mail order pharmacy in 2012. Movianto Ireland and the Wholesale Ireland were divested in the second quarter of 2013.
No units were classified as discontinued operations and disposal groups in the
2014 fiscal year. The profit from discontinued operations, which is largely due to
provisions for the expected occurrence of additional risks in relation to the divested activities, amounted to EUR -0.9m in the first nine months of 2014 compared to
EUR -2.4m in the prior-year period.
Measurement effects and disposals
The units classified as discontinued operations and disposal groups are measured at fair value less the costs of disposal. Fair value is determined based on
purchase agreements concluded. No impairment was taken for Movianto Ireland
and Wholesale Ireland in the first nine months of 2013.
No units classified as discontinued operations and disposal groups were deconsolidated in the reporting period.
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The key information about the deconsolidation of both Movianto Ireland, classified as discontinued operations, and Wholesale Ireland, classified as a disposal
group, which took place in the reporting periods is as follows:
Wholesale
Ireland

Movianto
Ireland

Total

34.8
34.8
21.4

10.0
10.0
6.1

44.8
44.8
27.5

0.4

0.5

0.9

Total assets
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Deferred tax assets
Inventories
Trade receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Other assets

98.9
0.0
0.0
1.1
19.2
56.6
10.9
11.1

54.4
0.0
0.0
0.0
9.9
39.6
0.0
4.9

153.3
0.0
0.0
1.1
29.1
96.2
10.9
16.0

Total liabilities
Financial liabilities
Pension provisions
Deferred tax liabilities
Trade payables
Other current provisions
Other liabilities

66.6
0.0
1.1
0.5
49.9
0.4
14.7

46.0
0.0
0.0
0.2
39.7
0.2
5.9

112.6
0.0
1.1
0.7
89.6
0.6
20.6

1 S T HAL F OF 2 0 1 3

EUR m
Consideration received
Of which expected to affect cash
Of which already cash
Gain/loss on disposal
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Assets and liabilities held for sale
The main groups of assets and liabilities held for sale are as follows:
31/12/2013

30/09/2014

Non-current
assets held for
sale

Non-current
assets held for
sale

EUR m
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Inventories
Trade receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Other assets
Assets

0.0
2.5
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
2.5

0.0
1.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
1.0

Financial liabilities
Trade payables
Other liabilities
Equity and liabilities

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

Property with a carrying value of EUR 0.4m (PY EUR 2.0m) is reported as noncurrent assets held for sale in the Pharmacy Solutions division. The figure in the
Consumer Solutions division amounts to EUR 0.6m (PY EUR 0.5m).
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Profit from discontinued operations
The profit from discontinued operations includes the risks associated with the
disposals in 2012 and 2013.
The profit from discontinued operations is as follows:

Total

EUR m
1st to 3rd quarter
Revenue
Cost of materials
Gross profit
EBITDA
EBIT
Profit/loss before tax from discontinued operations
Income taxes
Profit/loss after tax from discontinued operations
Profit/loss after tax from the measurement and disposals of
discontinued operations
Net profit/loss from discontinued operations
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2013
19.1
– 16.2
2.9
0.3
0.3
0.3
0.0
0.3

2014
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

– 2.7
– 2.4

– 0.9
– 0.9
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Guarantees and other commitments, other financial obligations
and contingent liabilities
On 30 September 2014, there were financial guarantees amounting to EUR
81.5m (31 December 2013 EUR 105.8m). The reduction of EUR 24.3m is mainly
attributable to the reduction in guarantees in wholesale business in the United
Kingdom.
During the first nine months of 2014, there was no material change in the other financial obligations shown in the consolidated financial statements as at 31
December 2013.
The contingent liabilities recognised for legal and tax risks as part of the acquisition of Panpharma in 2009 amounted to EUR 26.5m as at 30 September 2014
(31 December 2013 EUR 32.0m). These shrank mainly due to the statute of limitations expiring on legal and tax risks and the agreement with the tax authorities, in
addition to currency effects. To cover these risks, claims for reimbursement were
agreed with the former shareholders, which are capped at a maximum amount.
The claims for reimbursement are recognised as a claim against the former
owners in current or non-current assets and mainly decline in line with the contingent liabilities for legal and tax risks. To secure these claims, Celesio retained
partial payments to former owners, has other possibilities to offset the claims and
has access to collateral granted. Depending on maturity, the contingent liabilities
recognised are reported in current or non-current provisions. The contingent
liabilities include income tax liabilities of EUR 1.4m (31 December 2013 EUR 2,9m).
On 28 April 2014, in Slovenia, the administrative court delivered its judgement
on the antitrust case against Kemofarmacija from 2010. The court upheld the
decision of the antitrust authority regarding the violation of Slovenian antitrust law
against our wholesale subsidiary. Kemofarmacija has lodged an appeal against the
decision. As regards the violation of European Antitrust Law, the court has remanded the decision back to the Slovenian antitrust authority. A new decision by
the antitrust authority is expected within the next few months. Administrative
proceedings regarding a fine have now been initiated by the authority. The outcome of this case still cannot be reliably determined in respect of either the
amount or the extent of the action. Consequently no provision was recognised for
these risks.
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Fair value measurement
The following overview shows the carrying amounts and the fair values for
each class of assets and liabilities:

31/12/2013

AS S E TS

EUR m
Available-for-sale financial assets - equity instruments
Available-for-sale financial assets - debt instruments
Loans to investments
Other loans
Other financial assets
Other non-current assets
E QUITY AN D L IABIL ITIE S

EUR m
Liabilities to banks
Promissory notes and bonds
Lease liabilities
Other financial liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Other non-current liabilities
Liabilities to banks
Promissory notes and bonds
Lease liabilities
Other financial liabilities
Current liabilities
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Carrying
amount

58.8
3.6
14.5
32.6
109.5
39.8

30/09/2014
Fair value

Carrying
amount

Fair value

58.8
3.6
14.4
32.2
109.0
39.8

57.6
3.5
14.3
38.4
113.8
32.4

57.6
3.5
14.2
38.0
113.3
32.4

31/12/2013
Carrying
amount
Fair value

111.2
1273.9
7.5
3.4
1396.0
0.3
56.8
439.7
3.3
3.3
503.1
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119.9
1461.1
7.5
3.3
1591.8
0.3
56.8
487.6
3.3
3.3
551.0

30/09/2014
Carrying
amount
Fair value

118.0
935.2
5.7
2.3
1,061.2
7.2
236.6
0.0
2.5
0.4
239.5

125.7
1,009.9
5.7
2.3
1,143.6
7.2
236.6
0.0
2.5
0.4
239.5
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If the carrying amount represents an appropriate approximate value for the
fair value, no details of the fair value are provided in the table.
The financial assets available for sale mainly consist of shareholdings in unlisted companies where neither control nor any significant influence can be exercised.
If there are no active markets, these financial assets are shown at amortised cost.
On 30 September 2014, unlisted shareholdings with a carrying amount of EUR
57.0m (PY EUR 57.3m) were therefore measured at amortised cost.
Celesio uses the following hierarchy to determine and recognise assets and liabilities measured at fair value:
Level 1: Listed prices on active markets for the same asset or the same liability
Level 2: Listed prices on active markets for similar assets and liabilities or other
measurement methods where all key data used are based on observable
market data.
Level 3: Measurement methods where all key data used are not based on observable market data.
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The following overview shows the assets and liabilities measured at fair value in
the statement of financial position, divided into the measurement levels shown:
Assets accounted for at fair value
EUR m
Fair value measurement on a recurring basis
Available-for-sale financial assets
Derivative financial instruments - not designated as hedging instruments

Liabilities accounted for at fair value
EUR m
Fair value measurement on a recurring basis
Derivative financial instruments - designated as hedging instruments
Derivative financial instruments - not designated as hedging instruments
Other liabilities
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31/12/2013

30/09/2014

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

4.6
0.0

0.0
1.1

0.0
0.0

4.6
1.1

4.1
0.0

0.0
2.3

0.0
0.0

4.1
2.3

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

0.0
0.0
0.0

31.7
10.3
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.3

31.7
10.3
0.3

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
37.2
0.0

0.0
0.0
1.1

0.0
37.2
1.1

30/09/2013

30/09/2014

There were no reclassifications between level 1 and 2 or reclassifications into
or out of level 3 for assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis
in the reporting period.
The fair value of financial instruments, which are traded on an active market, is
based on listed prices on the balance sheet date. The DCF method is used to
determine the level 2 and 3 fair values of assets and liabilities measured at fair
value on a recurring basis. In the process, the future cash flows expected from
financial instruments are first discounted using market interest rates corresponding
to their respective terms. Celesio takes account of the creditworthiness of the
respective debtor by establishing adjustment values, so-called credit value adjustments (CVA) or debt value adjustments (DVA) on the basis of a mark-up/markdown procedure. Where possible, the CVA or DVA is determined using prices for
credit derivatives observable on the market.
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The level 3 liabilities relate to liabilities from business combinations after 1
January 2010, which are measured on the basis of earnings variables as well as
assumptions and assessments by management. Please refer to page 60 for the
reconciliation of this with level 3 liabilities measured at fair value from the beginning of the reporting period to the end of the reporting period.
No comprehensive income and expenses resulted from the recurring measurement of level 3 assets and liabilities, which are held in the company on the
reporting date, at fair value.

Other comprehensive income after taxes
The items of other comprehensive income after taxes – including noncontrolling interests - developed as follows:
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1st to 3rd quarter 2013
before
tax
tax

EUR m
Items that will not be recycled
through profit or loss
Revaluation of
defined benefit
plans
Share in the revaluation
of defined benefit pension plans
attributable to associates accounted
for using the equity method
Items that may be recycled through
profit or loss
Unrealised losses from the
current year
Gains/losses recycled through
profit or loss
Unrealised gains from marking
available-for-sale financial assets to
market
Unrealised gains/losses from the
current year
Gains/losses recycled through
profit or loss
Unrealised gains from derivative
financial instruments used to hedge
cash flows
Foreign currency translation
posted directly to other
comprehensive income
Release to profit or loss due to
loss of control
Exchange
differences
Other comprehensive income

after
tax

1st to 3rd quarter 2014
before
tax
tax

after
tax

23.7

– 18.5

5.2

– 102.0

17.3

– 84.7

3.5

/

3.5

– 4.0

/

– 4.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

– 0.7

0.0

– 0.7

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

– 0.7

0.0

– 0.7

2.8

– 0.8

2.0

– 2.1

1.1

– 1.0

11.5

– 3.0

8.5

3.5

– 1.4

2.1

14.3

– 3.8

10.5

1.4

– 0.3

1.1

– 84.0

0.0

– 84.0

100.2

/

100.2

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

/

0.0

– 84.0
– 42.5

0.0
– 22.3

– 84.0
– 64.8

100.2
– 5.1

/
17.0

100.2
11.9

Celesio Quarterly Financial Report Q1–Q3 2014

Condensed notes to the consolidated financial statements

077

Notes to the segment reporting
The segments are defined in line with the internal reporting structure of
Celesio and are divided into the Consumer Solutions (previously Patient and Consumer Solutions) and Pharmacy Solutions divisions. These divisions are the basis of
the internal management by the management board and consequently the reportable segments.
The Management Board of Celesio AG is the main decision-maker in accordance with IFRS 8.7. The divisions of Celesio AG can be described as follows:
• The Consumer Solutions division addresses patients and consumers. It includes
the entire logistics chain from purchasing merchandise to handing it over to
end consumers. In particular, the division includes activities relating to retail
and mail-order pharmacies, as well as activities in brand partner shops. In the
operating segment International Retail, and similarly to the wholesale business, a distinction has been made since the end of 2012 between the operating segments per country on the basis of a reorganisation of the organisational
and reporting structure, which were also combined for the purposes of segment reporting by business area.
The division also includes our shareholding in Brocacef Holding N.V. in the
Netherlands, which is recognised as an associated company.
• The Pharmacy Solutions division offers solutions for pharmacists; and concentrates on wholesale business with third party customers. In this division, too,
operating segments are combined at country level. The Pharmacy Solutions division also includes the developer of pharmacy sites, Inten, and Rudolf Spiegel,
the mail order company for pharmacy and laboratory equipment, until it was
sold in September 2013.
• The Others division mainly includes the activities of the ultimate parent company Celesio AG and other companies that are not attributable directly to operations. Celesio AG has shareholdings in the key national operating companies
and holding companies. The operating companies of the Celesio Group are also
mainly financed via Celesio AG and Celesio Finance B.V., Netherlands. Celesio
AG bundles group functions including in Accounting, Controlling, Treasury and
IT.
The consolidation measures between the divisions are presented separately.
The Management Board measures the success of the segments through EBIT
calculated in accordance with IFRS. This is defined as earnings before interest,
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taxes and investment result. In addition, information on the gross profit and
EBITDA is disclosed voluntarily.
The segment assets to be reported according to IFRS 8 correspond to tied capital, which is made up of the total of the carrying amounts of all non-interest bearing assets (apart from assets' tax items) less non-interest bearing liabilities (apart
from liabilities' tax items).
The same accounting standards as for the Celesio Group have been used in
segment reporting. Intercompany transactions are measured at market prices.

Transactions with related parties
Related parties as defined in IAS 24 (Related Party Disclosures) are legal entities and natural persons who can exercise significant influence or control over
Celesio AG and its subsidiaries or, alternatively, are subject to the control or significant influence of Celesio AG or its subsidiaries. Since 6 February 2014, this has
included the majority shareholder McKesson Corporation, San Francisco, USA, and
its subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates. Related parties also include joint
parties, associates and members of the boards of Celesio AG.
All transactions with related parties are conducted at arm's length.
There are ongoing business relationships with joint ventures and associates, in
particular with regard to supplies of merchandise.
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The goods and services received from or supplied to related parties are summarised below:

McKesson Corporation,
San Francisco, USA
31/12/2013
30/09/2014

EUR m
Loans and receivables
Liabilities

1 S T TO 3 RD QUARTE R

EUR m
Income
Expenses

/
/

2.4
0.0

McKesson Corporation,
San Francisco, USA
2013
2014

/
/

5.8 ¹
0.0

1) The income in the amount of EUR 5.8m is confronted with expenses to third parties of the same amount.
2) The income in the amount of EUR 0.5m is confronted with expenses to third parties of the same amount.
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Subsidiaries of McKesson
Corporation, San Francisco, USA
31/12/2013

30/09/2014

/
/

0.0
0.0

Subsidiaries of McKesson

Corporation, San Francisco, USA
2013

2014

/
/

0.5 ²
0.0

Joint Ventures and
associates of
McKesson Corporation,
San Francisco, USA
31/12/2013
30/09/2014

/
/

0.0
0.0

Joint Ventures and
associates of
McKesson Corporation,
San Francisco, USA
2013
2014

/
/

0.0
0.0

Joint ventures and
associates of
Celesio AG
31/12/2013
30/09/2014

1.5
0.0

2.1
0.0

Joint ventures and
associates of
Celesio AG
2013
2014

7.0
0.0

7.7
0.0

As of February 2014, Franz Haniel & Cie. GmbH, Duisburg is no longer listed as
a related party. The goods or services supplied and received until that date are as
follows:

Franz Haniel & Cie.
GmbH, Duisburg
31/12/2013
31/01/2014

EUR m
Loans and receivables
Liabilities

Income
Expenses

Subsidiaries of
Franz Haniel & Cie.
GmbH
31/12/2013
31/01/2014

Joint Ventures and
associates of Franz
Haniel & Cie. GmbH
31/12/2013
31/01/2014

0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0

0.1
0.1

0.1
0.0

0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0

01/01/2013 30/09/2013

01/01/2014 31/01/2014

01/01/2013 30/09/2013

01/01/2014 31/01/2014

01/01/2013 30/09/2013

01/01/2014 31/01/2014

0.3
0.0

0.0
0.0

0.0
0.2

0.0
0.0

0.0
1.0

0.1
0.0
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Employees
At the end of the reporting period Celesio employed 28,651 (30 September
2013 28,668) employees (full time equivalents).

Other disclosures in the notes
Other financial income contains changes in the market value of derivatives
used to hedge financial liabilities, which were recognised through profit or loss.
The changes in the market value of derivative currency hedge contracts resulted in
Expenses amounting to EUR 26.6m (PY Expenses EUR 12.8m). Other financial
income also contains exchange gains amounting to EUR 54.3m (PY EUR 134.5m)
and exchange losses of EUR 28.7m (PY EUR 134.1m). There were no impairment
losses on loan receivables in the fiscal year or the prior year. In contrast, other
financial income includes income from impaired loan receivables of EUR 0.6m (PY
EUR 1.5m).
On 23 January 2014, McKesson Corporation, San Francisco, USA announced its
intention to conclude a domination and profit and loss transfer agreement (DPLA)
with Celesio AG as a controlled company after completing its takeover. Subsequently the Management Board of Celesio AG began negotiations with Dragonfly
GmbH & Co. KGaA, a fully-owned subsidiary of McKesson Corporation, with a view
to concluding a DPLA. In this regard, a cash compensation per Celesio AG share, in
accordance with Section 305 AktG, and a fixed guaranteed dividend or a fixed
recurring compensation payment per Celesio AG share for each full fiscal year, in
accordance with Section 304 AktG, were determined. Both the payment of the
cash compensation and the payment of the fixed guaranteed dividend or the fixed
recurring compensation payment depend on the effectiveness of the DPLA. After
the Annual General Meeting of Celesio AG has approved the DPLA on 15 July 2014,
the DPLA will become effective upon its registration in the Commercial Register of
Celesio AG.
The Annual General Meeting of Celesio AG passed a resolution to pay a dividend of EUR 0.30 per share (previous year EUR 0.30 per share) for the 2013 fiscal
year. The dividend was paid on 17 July 2014.
There were no further issues requiring disclosure in the interim reporting period.
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Events after the reporting period

Since 30 September 2014 until the editorial deadline of 24 October 2014 there
had been no events of particular significance that can be expected to have a material effect on the assets position and revenue and operating results of the Celesio
Group.

Stuttgart, 24 October 2014
The Management Board
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Contact and Imprint

Celesio AG
Neckartalstraße 155
70376 Stuttgart, Germany
Germany
Telephone +49 (0) 711 5001-00
Fax +49 (0) 711 5001-1260
service@celesio.com
www.celesio.com
Investor Relations
Telephone +49 (0) 711 5001-735
Fax +49 (0) 711 5001-740
investor@celesio.com
Communications
Telephone +49 (0) 711 5001-549
Fax +49 (0) 711 5001-543
media@celesio.com
This quarterly financial report was published on 28 October 2014. It is produced in
German and English and is available to download from the Internet at celesio.com,
in the section entitled Investor Relations.
A printed version of the Quarterly Financial Report can be ordered there.
Rounding differences may occur in the Quarterly Financial Report due to presentation in EUR m.
The German version is legally binding.
This Quarterly Financial Report was compiled with the help of the editorial system
FIRE.sys.
Photography: Oliver Rossi / Corbis, Hero Images
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Financial calendar

Annual Report 2014
17 March 2015
Annual Report short fiscal 2015
17 June 2015
Interim Report 1st quarter 2016/2017
30 July 2015
Annual General Meeting
for fiscal 2014 and short fiscal 2015
11 August 2015
Interim Report 1st half 2016/2017
29 October 2015
(Extract)

Subject to modification. Additional dates and revised dates are available on the
Internet at www.celesio.com/de/Investor_Relations/financial calendar.
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Forward-looking statements

The present Quarterly Financial Report contains forward-related statements based
on current assessments by the management about future performance. Such
statements are subject to risks and uncertainties, which are outside Celesio's
capacity to control or estimate precisely - such as the future market environment
and economic framework conditions, government measures, the behaviour of
other market participants or the successful integration of new acquisitions and
realisation of anticipated synergies. Should one of these or other elements of
uncertainty and imponderables occur or should the assumptions on which these
statements are based prove to be inaccurate, the actual results may differ significantly from the results explicitly mentioned or contained implicitly in these statements. Celesio neither intends nor assumes any separate obligation to update
future-related statements to reconcile them with events or developments following the date of this report.
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